

EVALUATION REPORT

Tax Compliance



MARCH 2006

PROGRAM EVALUATION DIVISION Centennial Building – Suite 140 658 Cedar Street – St. Paul, MN 55155 Telephone: 651-296-4708 • Fax: 651-296-4712 E-mail: auditor@state.mn.us • Web site: http://www.auditor.leg.state.mn.us

Program Evaluation Division

The Program Evaluation Division was created within the Office of the Legislative Auditor (OLA) in 1975. The division's mission, as set forth in law, is to determine the degree to which state agencies and programs are accomplishing their goals and objectives and utilizing resources efficiently.

Topics for evaluation are approved by the Legislative Audit Commission (LAC), a 16-member joint, bipartisan commission. The division's reports, however, are solely the responsibility of OLA. Findings, conclusions, and recommendations do not necessarily reflect the views of the LAC or any of its members.

A list of recent evaluations is on the last page of this report. A more complete list is available at OLA's website (www.auditor.leg.state.mn.us), as are copies of evaluation reports.

The Office of the Legislative Auditor also includes a Financial Audit Division, which annually conducts an audit of the state's financial statements, an audit of federal funds administered by the state, and approximately 40 audits of individual state agencies, boards, and commissions. The division also investigates allegations of improper actions by state officials and employees.

Evaluation Staff

James Nobles, Legislative Auditor

Joel Alter Valerie Bombach David Chein Jody Hauer Adrienne Howard Daniel Jacobson Deborah Junod Carrie Meyerhoff John Patterson Judith Randall Jan Sandberg Jo Vos John Yunker

This document can be made available in alternative formats, such as large print, Braille, or audio tape, by calling 651-296-8976 Voice, or the Minnesota Relay Service at 651-297-5353 or 1-800-627-3529.

E-mail: auditor@state.mn.us

Reports of the Office of the Legislative Auditor are available at our web site: http://www.auditor.leg.state.mn.us



Printed on Recycled Paper.

Photo Credits:

The photograph on the *Tax Compliance* report cover was provided courtesy of the Minnesota Department of Revenue.



March 2006

Members Legislative Audit Commission

Minnesota's tax system depends on voluntary compliance. Nevertheless, the Department of Revenue has an important role in facilitating compliance and ensuring that citizens and businesses pay the correct amount of tax. In April 2005, the Legislative Audit Commission directed the Office of the Legislative Auditor to evaluate how well the department is performing these responsibilities.

We found significant compliance problems with the state's two largest taxes—the individual income tax and the sales and use tax. While the department is using appropriate taxpayer assistance and enforcement strategies, we found numerous ways the department could make better use of its resources to detect errors and collect taxes due.

This report was researched and written by Deborah Parker Junod (project manager) and Dan Jacobson. The Department of Revenue cooperated fully with our evaluation.

Sincerely,

- Jun Malun

James Nobles Legislative Auditor

Table of Contents

		Page
	SUMMARY	ix
	INTRODUCTION	1
1.	BACKGROUND	3
	Minnesota State Taxes	4
	Minnesota's Tax Gap	8
	Tax Compliance	9
	Tax Compliance Resources	14
2.	INDIVIDUAL INCOME TAX	15
	Auditing	16
	Taxpayer Assistance	29
	Conclusions	41
	Recommendations	41
3.	SALES AND USE TAX	47
	Auditing	48
	Taxpayer Assistance	58
	Conclusions	66
	Recommendations	66
4.	COLLECTION	71
	Amount of Tax Debt	72
	The Collection Process	75
	Conclusions	81
	Recommendations	82
	LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS	85
	AGENCY RESPONSE	89
	RECENT PROGRAM EVALUATIONS	91

List of Tables and Figures

<u>Table</u>	<u>25</u>	Page
1.1	Individual Income Tax Returns Filed, 2000-05	5
1.2	Sales and Use Tax Returns Filed, 2000-05	7
1.3	Minnesota Tax Gap Estimates	8
1.4	Types of Income Tax Audits	11
1.5	Types of Sales and Use Tax Audits	12
1.6	Enforcement Actions Used to Collect Delinquent Tax Payments	13
1.7	Expenditures and Staffing by Biennium, Fiscal Years 2000-05	14
2.1	Criteria for Evaluating Audit Programs	16
2.2	Minnesota Income Tax Gap Estimates, Tax Year 1999	17
2.3	Minnesota Income Tax Returns Audited, Fiscal Years 1998 and 2005	19
2.4	Information Used to Detect Taxpayer Noncompliance	22
2.5	Estimated Income Tax Audit Productivity by Type of Audit,	
	Fiscal Year 2005	25
2.6	Results of Tax Preparation Assistance Programs, 2001-05	31
2.7	Taxpayer Inquiries by Telephone and Correspondence, 2001-05	33
2.8	Access to Income Tax Telephone Assistance	
	Representatives, 2004-05	35
2.9	Access to Income Tax Telephone Assistance Representatives	
	by Type of Call, 2005	36
2.10	Telephone Assistance Call Quality Reviews, Fiscal Year 2005	38
2.11	Errors Noted During Telephone Assistance Call Quality	
	Reviews, Fiscal Year 2005	39
3.1	Sales and Use Tax Audits Completed, Fiscal Year 2005	48
3.2	Sales and Use Tax Gap Estimates, 2000	49
3.3	Sales and Use Tax Audit Hours Compared with Compliance	
	Rate and Sales Tax Base by Industry	50
3.4	Productivity of Sales and Use Tax Audits by Type of Audit,	
	Fiscal Years 2004-05	56
3.5	Taxpayer Inquiries by Telephone and Correspondence,	
	Fiscal Years 2003-05	61
4.1	Tax Debt, Fiscal Years 2004-05	73
4.2	Steps in the Collection Process, 2005	76
4.3	Tax Debt Collected, Fiscal Years 2000-05	77
4.4	Distribution of Tax Debts by Size of Debt, June 2005	79

Figures

1.1	Revenue by Tax Type, Fiscal Year 2005	4
1.2	Tax Compliance Cycle	9

2.1	Access to Income Tax Telephone Assistance Representatives	
	by Month, 2005	35
3.1	Calls to Sales and Use Tax Call Center Representatives	
	by Month, Fiscal Year 2005	62
3.2	Tax Assistance Inquiries to Policy Staff by Month,	
	Fiscal Year 2005	64
3.3	Backlogs and Response Time for Correspondence to Policy Staff,	
	Fiscal Year 2005	65
4.1	Tax Debt by Source, June 2005	73
4.2	Age of Tax Debts, November 2005	78

Summary

Major Findings:

- Individuals owe, but do not pay, an estimated \$600 million in Minnesota income tax annually. For the sales and use tax, this Minnesota "tax gap" is about \$450 million (p. 8).
- In addressing the income tax gap, the Minnesota Department of Revenue has made significant progress targeting nonfilers but not underreported selfemployment income (pp. 18-27).
- The department is not effectively using some important information that would help identify noncompliance (pp. 21-24, 53-54).
- On average, income and sales and use tax audits yielded \$5 to \$7 per dollar spent in fiscal year 2005, not counting revenue gains that may occur later because of better voluntary compliance (pp. 24, 54).
- However, some of the department's audit programs find little noncompliance, and these resources could be redirected to more productive audits (pp. 26-27, 55-57).
- Many taxpayers who file returns with a balance due or who owe taxes after an audit do not pay on time. This tax debt totaled over \$450 million in 2005 (pp. 72-73).

- Although the department has increased annual debt collections, many of its collection practices are inefficient (pp. 75-81).
- Taxpayers who call or write with questions often do not get prompt responses, and the department does not do enough to ensure that taxpayers get correct answers (pp. 33-40, 60-66).

Recommendations:

- The Department of Revenue should improve its tools for identifying noncompliant taxpayers. To help, the Legislature should require employers to file wage reports in a common electronic format (pp. 41-42).
- The department should (1) make better use of performance data to evaluate audit projects and (2) modify or reduce resources in those that are unproductive (pp. 43, 66).
- The department should simplify the steps involved in pursuing debt collection cases and put more emphasis on collecting high-dollar debts (p. 83).
- The department should improve the quality of assistance provided to taxpayers who call or write with tax compliance questions (pp. 44-45, 68-69).

Minnesota has significant tax compliance problems, and the state needs to strengthen its ability to detect and deter noncompliance.

TAX COMPLIANCE

Report Summary

The Minnesota Department of Revenue administers the state's system of income, sales, and other taxes. The individual income tax and the sales and use tax accounted for about 72 percent of state tax revenues (after refunds) in fiscal year 2005. The use tax is like the state sales tax, but it generally applies to purchases made from outof-state businesses.

The department uses several strategies to boost tax compliance. This evaluation focused on the individual income tax and the sales and use tax, particularly the department's efforts to (1) help taxpayers comply voluntarily through assistance and education and (2) use audits to detect and correct errors in reported tax liability. We also evaluated efforts to collect tax liabilities that are assessed but not paid on time.

Taxpayers Are Underreporting Their Tax Liabilities By An Estimated \$1 Billion Annually

A "tax gap" is the difference between the amount of taxes owed and the amount taxpayers voluntarily report on their tax returns. The Department of Revenue estimated that, annually, the income tax gap is about \$604 million (based on 1999 returns) and the sales and use tax gap is about \$451 million (based on 2000 returns). For each tax, the tax gap is roughly 10 percent of the taxes owed.

The Department Has Had Mixed Success Targeting Major Contributors To The Tax Gap

For the income tax, the primary contributors to the tax gap are (1) self-employed individuals who underreport their income and (2) taxpayers who do not file at all (nonfilers). The department has made limited progress in addressing underreported self-employment income—largely because of staff turnover among field auditors needed to do the complex audits required to detect it. However, the department has significantly increased its auditing of nonfilers.

Much of the sales and use tax gap is from unreported use tax, primarily by businesses that purchase taxable goods from out-of-state vendors. The department has targeted its audits at industries with high sales and use tax noncompliance, but has not made much progress in reducing the use tax gap overall. It audits a relatively small proportion of businesses, and it does little to enforce individual filers' compliance with the use tax because it does not consider it cost effective. A multistate initiative to collect tax on Internet purchases holds promise for addressing use tax noncompliance, but its impact remains uncertain.

The Department Lacks Some Tools That Would Help Identify Noncompliant Taxpayers

The department effectively uses a variety of tools to identify noncompliant taxpayers. However, it is not using some information that would help identify other types of noncompliance.

For the income tax, the department does not adequately match state tax returns with the W-2 Wage and Tax Statements that employers file. It does not participate in the Internal Revenue Service's "Fed-State" tax return processing program, which would allow it to more effectively identify certain types of noncompliance. The department has a backlog of federal field audit reports that can be used to determine whether taxpayers owe additional state taxes, though recent changes will enable the department to reduce this backlog. Until January 2006,

The Department of Revenue has had limited success targeting individuals who underreport their income and businesses that underreport their use tax liabilities.

SUMMARY

Increased audit activity has been productive, but the department could further increase revenues by modifying some types of audits.

Collection of overdue tax payments has been increasing, but poor data and inefficient processes impede efforts to more effectively pursue delinquent taxpayers. the department's income tax data systems lacked drivers' license, motor vehicle registration, and hunting and fishing license data that would particularly help identify unreported self-employment income.

The department has fewer sources of information available to it that would help identify sales and use tax noncompliance. But some data are available, such as sales figures reported on federal tax returns, and these need to be integrated into the department's data systems.

Overall, Audit Productivity Has Improved, But Some Types Of Audits Find Little Noncompliance

Audit productivity—the revenue collected per dollar spent on audits and collection—has improved in recent years. For audits completed in fiscal year 2005, we estimate that the department will collect, on average, about \$6.70 per dollar invested in income tax audits and \$5.40 per dollar invested in sales and use tax audits.

The department generally groups audits into projects aimed at specific groups of taxpayers or compliance issues. Although overall productivity has improved, these averages mask variation in results among projects. For example, two large sales and use tax audit projects have been less than one-third as productive as the average for each of the past three years. Similarly, some income tax field audit projects have found little noncompliance.

In part, unproductive audit projects persist because the department has only recently begun to use audit performance data to assess and improve them. The department has focused on restructuring and increasing the number of audits it does. Now it needs to do more to fine tune its audit programs.

Collection Of Past Due Taxes Has Been Increasing, But Over \$450 Million Is Still Owed To The State

If taxpayers report a balance due on their tax returns or are assessed additional tax after an audit, they must pay by certain deadlines. If timely payment is not made, the taxpayers' accounts become delinquent and are referred to the department's Collection Division. At the end of fiscal year 2005, these tax debts totaled over \$450 million. About 63 percent of debts were for individual income tax liabilities.

The department received additional funding to increase debt collection, and as intended, collections increased from about \$164 million in fiscal year 2002 to \$191 million in fiscal year 2005. Still, the pace of debt collection has not met the department's goal to collect most debts within a year of becoming delinquent. As of late 2005, 60 percent of debts had been delinquent for more than a year.

Some Collection Practices Are Inefficient, And Collection Resources Could Be Used More Strategically

Cumbersome case routing and inconsistent collection procedures have contributed to inefficient debt collection. Collection work is divided among work groups that each function independently. Combined with a lack of standardized collection procedures, this led to inconsistent treatment of debtors. Also, collection cases are handed off numerous times, adding to case processing time. The department has recently acted to improve its performance management system, standardize application of collection procedures across work groups, and identify problems in case routing. However, these changes have not been in place long enough to assess their impact.

TAX COMPLIANCE

The department needs to improve access to taxpayer assistance, particularly for taxpayers with limited English proficiency.

The department does not do enough to test the accuracy of the assistance it provides by telephone and e-mail. The collection process also lacks strategic focus. Less than 10 percent of cases account for over 70 percent of total tax debt, yet the department does not allocate a greater share of resources to these cases. Moving forward, the division needs to invest in developing and analyzing better data on debts, debtors, and collection results in order to make greater gains in efficiency and effectiveness.

The Department Relies Heavily On Its Website For Taxpayer Education

Education services are intended to help taxpayers understand and voluntarily meet their tax obligations, reducing state and taxpayer compliance burdens. In recent years, the Department has emphasized self-service through the department website, although it still provides direct services, such as taxpayer training, support for volunteer return-preparation programs that help low-income filers, and direct outreach to certain groups of taxpayers.

However, education efforts targeted at taxpayers with limited English proficiency could be improved. The department has translated some documents into other languages, but its telephone assistance is not well structured for bilingual service.

Taxpayers Who Call With Questions Often Do Not Receive Prompt Assistance

Answering taxpayers' questions is another strategy to improve tax compliance. But in 2005, many callers had a hard time getting through to assistance representatives, particularly around return filing deadlines.

From February through April 2005, department staff were able to answer 64 to 70 percent of income tax assistance calls. One problem is that many taxpayers are not using automated options for learning the status of their refunds. These callers are a drain on telephone assistance resources, limiting the department's ability to assist callers with more complex questions. Access to help with sales and use tax questions is even more difficult. Around the annual sales tax filing deadline in January and February 2005, representatives answered only about half of incoming calls.

The department needs to seek staffing, call routing, and automated solutions to improve the level of service provided.

The Department Does Not Adequately Ensure That Taxpayers Get Correct Answers To Their Questions

Some calls to the income tax assistance line are recorded and later evaluated for accuracy and adherence to department procedures. For fiscal year 2005, the department evaluated about 300 calls and noted a problem in about 30 percent of them. Among the most common problems were failure to verify the caller's identity and inaccurate answers. But not all calls were thoroughly evaluated, and only about one-fifth of the monitored calls involved technical tax questions, for which incorrect answers pose the highest risk to the taxpayer.

The department does not have a systematic quality assessment process in place for sales and use tax assistance calls and needs to establish one. The department also should do more to test the accuracy of staff responses to e-mail inquiries.

Introduction

Two types of taxes account for most of Minnesota's state tax revenue. For example, in fiscal year 2005, the department collected \$15.5 billion in state revenue; about 41 percent from the individual income tax (\$6.4 billion) and about 31 percent from the sales and use tax (\$4.8 billion). However, according to Minnesota Department of Revenue studies of 1999 and 2000 tax returns, taxpayers annually owed, but did not report, an additional \$600 million in individual income tax and \$450 million in sales and use tax. This difference between taxes owed and tax liabilities reported is referred to as a "tax gap." In addition to revenue lost to the tax gap, many taxpayers who report the correct tax liability or are assessed additional taxes after an audit do not make their payments on time. At the close of fiscal year 2005, these late tax payments totaled yet another \$460 million.

In addition to processing millions of tax returns every year, the Department of Revenue is responsible for promoting compliance with state tax laws, closing the tax gap, and collecting late payments. The department uses many strategies to do so, including educating taxpayers so that they understand and voluntarily meet their tax obligations, auditing tax returns that potentially underreport taxes owed, and arranging payment plans so that taxpayers can eliminate their debts.

In April 2005, the Legislative Audit Commission directed the Office of the Legislative Auditor to evaluate the Department of Revenue's tax compliance programs. In this report, we address the following questions:

- Does the Department of Revenue have an effective program to identify and audit taxpayers who may have underpaid their taxes?
- Does the Department of Revenue have effective education and assistance services to help taxpayers understand and meet their tax obligations?
- How successful is the Department of Revenue in collecting delinquent tax payments?

For the first two questions on taxpayer assistance and auditing, we focused our work on the two taxes that account for most state tax revenue: the individual income tax and the sales and use tax. Regarding collection of delinquent payments, our work focused on the department's Collection Division. To answer these questions, we reviewed state laws, legislative reports, and Department of Revenue publications that describe the state tax system and compliance programs. In addition, we interviewed Department of Revenue staff, including the department's Taxpayer Rights Advocate, and analyzed available data on taxpayer assistance programs, audit selection and results, and debt collection.

To evaluate programs to identify and audit income tax and sales and use tax returns, we interviewed department staff about compliance plans, audit selection procedures, and audit results. We also examined tax gap studies and analyzed summary data on audit results and audit program expenditures. To assess the relative productivity of various types of audits, we also analyzed available caselevel data for both income tax audits and sales and use tax audits.

To evaluate taxpayer assistance efforts, we interviewed taxpayer assistance staff and officials at a nonprofit organization that partners with the department in providing free income tax preparation assistance. In addition, we obtained and analyzed available department data on the purpose, nature, and results of taxpayer education programs. Also, to assess how promptly and accurately the department responds to taxpayers' inquiries, we analyzed department data on the number of inquiries received and responded to. We also evaluated department procedures to assess the quality of assistance provided.

To evaluate the department's ability to collect tax debts, we interviewed Collection Division employees about collection policies and procedures and reviewed the Collection Division manual. In addition, we obtained and analyzed division data on tax debts, collection actions, and amounts collected.

Because the evaluation was already broad in scope, we were not able to include several important aspects of tax compliance efforts. For example, we did not assess the department's criminal investigation function, analyze data on use of penalties, or assess the extent and results of taxpayer appeals. We did not evaluate tax processing, nor did we independently asses the quality of income or sales tax audits. In addition, we did not systematically assess how tax laws could be revised to improve taxpayers' ability to comply or the department's ability to enforce them.

The report is divided into four chapters. In Chapter 1, we provide an overview of Minnesota's income tax and sales and use tax, tax gap estimates, and Department of Revenue strategies to ensure tax compliance. In Chapter 2, we discuss income tax compliance, including how the department identifies and selects returns for audit, audit productivity, and efforts to help taxpayers comply voluntarily through education and assistance. In Chapter 3, we evaluate similar tax compliance programs relative to the sales and use tax. Chapter 4 describes the amount and nature of tax debts owed to the state and the effectiveness of department procedures for collecting these debts. By law, certain aspects of tax auditing and collection—particularly audit selection criteria—are protected, nonpublic data.¹ As a result, we do not report some of our evaluation results in detail.

²

¹ Minnesota Statutes 2004, 270B.01.

Background

SUMMARY

The Minnesota Department of Revenue administers the state's system of income, sales, and other taxes. The individual income tax and sales and use tax are the state's biggest sources of revenue, generating about 72 percent of the \$15.5 billion in taxes collected in fiscal year 2005. But, not all taxpayers pay the correct amount of tax. The department estimates that taxpayers have annually underpaid income taxes by about \$600 million and sales and use taxes by another \$450 million. The department uses a variety of techniques to improve tax compliance. These include (1) education and assistance to help taxpayers understand their obligations before they file their returns and (2) enforcement techniques to detect noncompliance, audit tax returns, and collect the correct amount of tax due.

S tate budget shortfalls over the past several years have raised many questions about Minnesota's spending priorities and tax policy. Budget shortfalls also heightened interest in ensuring that taxpayers pay the taxes they owe under current law. In addition to processing millions of tax returns every year, the Minnesota Department of Revenue is responsible for promoting compliance with state tax laws and making sure that taxpayers meet their obligations. Tax compliance has many elements aimed at helping taxpayers voluntarily pay the right amount of tax and pursuing taxpayers who intentionally underpay the taxes they owe.

The purpose of our evaluation was to assess how well the Department of Revenue helps ensure that individuals and businesses pay the correct amount of Minnesota tax. As background, this chapter addresses the following questions:

- How is Minnesota's state tax system structured?
- To what extent are individuals and businesses paying the correct amount of tax?
- What is the Department of Revenue's general approach to ensuring tax compliance?

To answer these questions, we reviewed state laws, legislative reports, and Department of Revenue publications that describe the state tax system and compliance programs. In addition, we analyzed available data on the number of returns filed and revenues collected, and we interviewed Department of Revenue officials regarding the agency's approach to tax compliance.

The Minnesota Department of Revenue administers the state's system of income, sales, and other taxes.

MINNESOTA STATE TAXES

The Minnesota Department of Revenue administers Minnesota's system of income, sales, and other taxes.¹ As shown in Figure 1.1, the individual income tax and sales and use tax accounted for about 72 percent of state tax revenues in fiscal year 2005 (after refunds). The next largest revenue source is the corporate franchise tax, which accounted for about 6 percent of revenues in fiscal year 2005. Our evaluation focused on compliance with the individual income tax and sales and use tax because they account for the majority of state tax revenue.

Figure 1.1: Revenue by Tax Type, Fiscal Year 2005

The individual income tax and sales and use tax are Minnesota's largest sources of tax revenue.



NOTES: Percentages are based on tax revenue after refunds. The Sales and Use category includes the Motor Vehicle Sales Tax. "Other Specialty Taxes" includes, among others, taxes on estates, gambling, waste, and alcoholic beverages.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue data.

Minnesota's income tax is linked to the federal income tax.

Individual Income Tax

Minnesota's income tax is linked to the federal income tax. Calculation of Minnesota income tax liability starts with taxable income as reported on the federal tax return. Minnesota taxpayers then calculate various additions and subtractions to income to determine state taxable income. The taxpayer's tax

4

¹ For a more detailed discussion of Minnesota state taxes, see Nina Manzi, Joel Michael, Pat Dalton, and Paul Wilson, *Overview of Income, Corporate Franchise, Sales, and Other State Taxes* (St. Paul: Minnesota House of Representatives Research Department, 2005); http://www.house.leg.state.mn.us/hrd/issinfo/incpresent0105.pdf; accessed May 5, 2005.

BACKGROUND

Nearly two-thirds of income tax returns are filed electronically.

liability depends on the tax bracket and eligibility for state tax credits.² Minnesota's individual income tax return is called the "M1." The state also has a series of related returns, such as the "M1NR" for part-year residents or nonresidents and the "M1PR" for homeowners and renters claiming a property tax refund.³

As with the federal income tax, the filing deadline for Minnesota's income tax is April 15.⁴ To achieve improved efficiency and accuracy, the Department of Revenue encourages taxpayers to file their returns electronically. As shown in Table 1.1, although the number of income tax returns filed has stayed relatively stable, the percentage of taxpayers filing electronically has been increasing. About 63 percent of income tax returns were filed electronically in 2005 compared to 26 percent in 2000. Beginning in the 1998 filing season, some taxpayers with simple returns could file using touch-tone telephones (an electronic filing method called "telefile"); however, Minnesota discontinued this option in 2005.

Table 1.1: Individual Income Tax Returns Filed, 2000-05

	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 ^a
Paper Electronic	1,768,766 <u>627,545</u>	1,558,585 <u>882,745</u>	1,362,410 <u>1,052,629</u>	1,179,207 <u>1,236,990</u>	927,334 <u>1,488,229</u>	907,322 <u>1,523,301</u>
Total	2,396,311	2,441,330	2,415,039	2,416,197	2,415,563	2,430,623
Percentage Filed Electronically	26.2%	36.2%	43.6%	51.2%	61.6%	62.7%

NOTE: Data are for calendar years. Returns filed during one calendar year report income from the prior year. For example, returns filed in 2005 are for income earned in 2004.

^a Data are as of December 3, 2005.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue data.

At least half of all individual income tax returns are prepared for a fee by someone other than the taxpayer. In 2005, about 57 percent of returns were filed with a paid preparer's signature. According to department officials, however, this percentage likely understates the prevalence of commercially prepared returns because not all paid preparers identify themselves as required on the returns they complete. While the taxpayers themselves are liable for the accuracy of their returns, the Department of Revenue has a strong interest in the

² Minnesota has three income brackets with a different rate for each. State tax credits include the Minnesota Working Family Credit and the K-12 Education Credit. For more detail, see: Nina Manzi, *Minnesota's Individual Income Tax* (St. Paul: Minnesota House of Representatives Research Department, 2004).

³ Eligibility for a property tax refund is based on household income and the property tax paid on the taxpayer's principal place of residence. Property tax refund returns are due by August 15 each year but can be filed for up to a year after the due date.

⁴ The Department of Revenue will automatically extend the income tax filing deadline to October 15. If April 15th falls on a weekend, the filing deadline is the following Monday. In 2006, the filing deadline is April 17.

quality of tax preparation services in the state. Paid preparers range from licensed professionals, such as certified public accountants, attorneys, and enrolled agents (who are certified to represent their clients before the Internal Revenue Service) to those with little or no training.

Most state income tax revenue is collected through employer withholding. For most employees, businesses are required to withhold various federal taxes and state income tax from their wages. Employers must remit state income tax withheld to the Department of Revenue either quarterly or annually. Also, at the end of each calendar year, employers are required to prepare a federal Form W-2 Wage and Tax Statement for every employee paid wages. In addition to federal tax information, this form includes the amount of wages earned in Minnesota and the amount of state income tax withheld. Employers are required to give W-2s to their employees by January 31 of the following year and to the state and federal governments by February 28. In fiscal year 2005, about \$5.2 billion (82 percent) of the \$6.4 billion in state income tax paid was collected through employer withholding.

Sales and Use Tax

Minnesota has a 6.5 percent general sales tax that applies to most retail sales and some services.⁵ Distinguishing taxable sales from those that are exempt is complicated, and the Department of Revenue has issued many publications delineating the goods and services that are taxable.⁶ But in general, the sales tax applies to most tangible goods purchased for personal use unless specifically exempted. Sales tax generally does not apply to services except when specifically included by statute. Taxable sales include such things as building materials, cable TV service, over-the-counter medication, admission fees, computers, and motor vehicles. Taxable services include such things as laundry and cleaning services, pet grooming, and parking services. Some goods and services are taxable at special rates, including liquor, car rentals, and certain waste management services. Overall, about 40 percent of sales taxes are paid by businesses.⁷

Sales tax exemptions may be different for individuals and businesses. Most food and clothing are exempt purchases for individuals. Businesses do not have to pay sales tax on goods used directly in the production of taxable goods and services, nor must they pay sales tax on capital equipment used in manufacturing, farming, or mining. In the case of capital equipment purchases, however, businesses must pay tax at the time of purchase, then claim a sales tax refund from the Department of Revenue.

Most income tax revenue is collected through employer withholding.

The sales and use tax applies to most tangible goods and some services.

⁵ Some local governments impose a local sales tax, which would increase the total sales tax rate within certain communities. For some localities, businesses remit local sales tax collected to the Department of Revenue along with state sales tax. The department then forwards the local tax revenue to the appropriate local government.

⁶ See Department of Revenue sales and use tax publications on its website: http://www.taxes.state.mn.us/taxes/sales/index.shtml.

⁷ Pat Dalton, *The Minnesota Sales Tax Base* (St. Paul: Minnesota House of Representatives Research Department, 2002), 1.

BACKGROUND

Use tax applies to taxable items or services purchased out of state for use in Minnesota. The sales tax is a "trust tax," meaning that businesses collect tax from purchasers on behalf of the state. Thus, sales tax collected is not part of the business's income. All businesses that provide taxable sales and services must register with the Department of Revenue for a permit to conduct taxable sales. Businesses are then required to file sales tax returns and remit the sales tax collected to the department. The frequency of filing—either monthly, quarterly, or annually—depends on the business's volume of taxable sales. At the end of 2005, the department had about 264,000 registered sales tax accounts. Of these, about 183,000 file annually, 40,000 file quarterly, and 41,000 file monthly.

Use tax is comparable to the state sales tax. The use tax rate is 6.5 percent, and it applies to the same set of taxable goods and services as the sales tax. The use tax applies to taxable items bought out of state for use in Minnesota or bought from a seller who did not collect Minnesota sales tax. The use tax is most commonly associated with purchases made over the Internet, from catalogs, or through television sales. The use tax applies to purchases made in other countries as well as other states.

There are some differences in how the use tax applies to businesses and individuals. Individuals are exempt from the use tax if their eligible purchases are for personal use and are less than \$770 per year. If an individual's purchases exceed that amount, the use tax is due for the entire amount, not just the portion exceeding \$770. Individuals can either report use tax on a paper return or set up an electronic use tax account at the Department of Revenue.⁸ The state does not have an exemption threshold for business purchases subject to the use tax. Businesses are to report and remit use tax on their own purchases when they report and remit sales taxes collected from their customers.

Since 2002, nearly all businesses are required to file sales and use tax returns electronically using the Department of Revenue's "e-File Minnesota" system, which allows filing over the Internet or by touch-tone telephone. As shown in Table 1.2, over 96 percent of returns were filed electronically in 2005, and the department receives over 650,000 returns each year. Not all registered

Table 1.2: Sales and Use Tax Returns Filed, 2000-05

	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 ^a
Paper Electronic	711,921 1,574	503,584 <u>193,256</u>	50,288 <u>625,619</u>	36,684 <u>678,130</u>	32,820 <u>638,149</u>	25,400 <u>648,923</u>
Total	713,495	696,840	675,907	714,814	670,969	674,323
Percentage Filed Electronically	0.2%	27.7%	92.6%	94.9%	95.1%	96.2%

^a Data are as of December 12, 2005.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue data.

⁸ For more information, see Minnesota Department of Revenue, *Fact Sheet 156: Use Tax for Individuals* (St. Paul, 2002).

businesses submit returns. For example, the department received about 675,000 returns in 2005 rather than the 840,000 sales and use tax returns it would have received had each registered account holder submitted returns per its required filing schedule (monthly, quarterly, or annually). In some cases, businesses should have filed a return but did not; in other cases, the account holders may not have been required to file because they did not make taxable sales or purchases subject to the use tax.

MINNESOTA'S TAX GAP

A "tax gap" is the difference between the amount of taxes owed and the amount taxpayers voluntarily report on their tax returns. A tax gap includes unpaid taxes by (1) filers who underreport the amount of tax due by understating income or overstating credits and deductions and (2) those who do not file tax returns at all (these taxpayers are called "nonfilers").

The Department of Revenue has estimated the tax gap for Minnesota's two largest revenue sources—the individual income tax and the sales and use tax. As shown in Table 1.3, these studies estimated that the income tax gap is about \$604 million (based on 1999 returns) and the sales and use tax gap is about \$451 million (based on 2000 returns). For each tax, the tax gap was roughly 10 percent of the taxes owed.⁹

Table 1.3: Minnesota Tax Gap Estimates

	Taxes Owed (in millions)	Taxes Paid (in millions)	Tax Gap (in millions)	Compliance Rate
Income Tax	\$5,736	\$5,132 ^a	\$604	89%
Sales and Use Tax Sales Tax Use Tax	3,685 577	3,505 305	180 272	95 53
Subtotal	\$4,261	\$3,810	\$451	89%

NOTE: Estimates for the income tax gap are based on returns for 1999; sales and use tax estimates are based on returns for 2000. Amounts may not add to subtotals due to rounding.

^a Amount of taxes paid does not include additional revenue collected as a result of income tax audits. It also does not include tax balances due that taxpayers report on their tax returns, even if the balance due is not remitted on time.

SOURCES: Minnesota Department of Revenue, *Individual Income Tax Gap, Tax Year 1999* (St. Paul, 2004); American Economics Group, Inc., *Minnesota Sales and Use Tax Gap Project: Final Report* (St. Paul: Minnesota Department of Revenue, 2002); and Minnesota Department of Revenue data on sales and use tax paid.

Minnesota taxpayers owed but did not report over \$1 billion in income and sales and use taxes.

⁹ Minnesota Department of Revenue, *Individual Income Tax Gap, Tax Year 1999* (St. Paul, 2004); and American Economics Group, Inc., *Minnesota Sales and Use Tax Gap Project: Final Report* (St. Paul: Minnesota Department of Revenue, 2002). Audit results are used in the methodology to estimate the tax gap. Because audits for a given tax year can take place several years after the return is filed, tax gap estimates also can be published several years after the filing year.

BACKGROUND

TAX COMPLIANCE

The Department of Revenue uses a variety of strategies to address noncompliance. The Department of Revenue uses a variety of strategies to boost tax compliance. As shown in Figure 1.2, the department approaches tax compliance as a cycle involving taxpayer assistance and education, enforcement, and improvements to the tax system itself that simplify compliance. Our evaluation focused on efforts to (1) help taxpayers comply voluntarily through assistance and education, (2) detect and correct errors in reported tax liability, and (3) collect tax liabilities that are reported or assessed after audits but not paid on time.





SOURCE: Minnesota Department of Revenue, Strategic Plan (St. Paul, 2004), 2.

Organizationally, responsibility for tax compliance and collection is divided among several Department of Revenue divisions. Income tax compliance is primarily the responsibility of the Individual Income Tax Division, which has a staff of field auditors, office auditors, and taxpayer assistance representatives. The Tax Operations Division, which handles the processing of tax returns, also plays a role in income tax compliance by screening returns for problems as they are filed. Sales and use tax compliance is the responsibility of the Corporate and Sales Tax Division, which also administers the state's corporate franchise tax. And finally, the department's Collection Division manages the process for collecting tax payments that are past due. All four divisions are based in the St. Paul headquarters, but compliance staff are located in field offices statewide.

Taxpayer Assistance

Tax education and assistance are important ways to help taxpayers understand their obligations and voluntarily comply.

Auditing involves identifying taxpayers who may be noncompliant and then detecting and correcting errors. According to the Department of Revenue, an essential element of tax compliance is helping taxpayers understand their tax obligations and promoting voluntary, accurate reporting of tax liabilities. Avoiding problems from the start benefits both the taxpayer and the department. Thus, the department's taxpayer assistance efforts have several elements, including: (1) issuing understandable forms and publications; (2) providing an array of education and outreach programs targeted at those who want to comply and groups at risk of noncompliance through lack of understanding; and (3) promptly and accurately answering taxpayers' questions.

Over the past several years, the department has purposefully shifted to a selfservice model of taxpayer assistance. In part a response to budget reductions, the department has expanded and revamped its website to provide written materials on tax requirements and filing procedures. It has also increased its reliance on automated self-service, such as internet registration for business tax identification numbers and refund status information available via the department's website and automated telephone service.

Auditing

Whether intentionally or unintentionally, not all taxpayers file timely returns or pay the correct amount of tax due. The tax auditing process involves using available information to identify taxpayers who may be noncompliant. That information includes such things as federal tax return data, information reports from financial institutions, employer wage statements, and other Minnesota tax return data. Then, depending on the type of tax and nature of the error the department is trying to detect, it uses a variety of audit techniques to find and correct errors in a taxpayer's reported tax liability.

Income tax audits range from a fully automated process to more extensive, faceto-face audits, as shown in Table 1.4. Enforcement begins during the processing of tax returns, when department computers screen all incoming returns for calculation errors, fraud schemes, and questionable deductions and credits. The department screens returns during processing because it is harder to collect taxes owed after the refund is issued. If the computer screening identifies one or more possible errors, the return is subject to an early audit. To avoid delaying valid refunds, these early audits are usually quick and use information available at the time of processing. A year or two after processing, the department's computers check returns for inconsistencies with other data, primarily information obtained from the Internal Revenue Service. The computers can correct many of these discrepancies and notify taxpayers of any additional taxes that are due (called automated audits). Other discrepancies are more complex and require auditors to review the case and contact the taxpayer for additional information (called office audits). The department also uses third-party income data to identify people who likely owe taxes but did not file a return at all (called nonfiler audits). Finally, when issues are more complex, such as those involving underreported selfemployment income, the department typically conducts field audits face-to-face with taxpayers. Audits can result in additional assessments of tax, penalties and interest, or in some cases, a refund to the taxpayer.

Table 1.4: Types of Income Tax Audits

Income tax audits range from a fully	Early Audit	Audits conducted during the processing of tax returns. The department's computers screen all income tax and property tax refund returns for math errors, questionable credits and deductions, and various other factors. Early audit staff review returns that are flagged by the computer. The Tax Operations Division conducts most early audits. The Income Tax Division handles early audits that may involve fraud and a few other issues.
automated process to more extensive, face-to- face audits.	Fraud Audit	A type of early audit in which fraud unit staff in the Income Tax Division review refund returns flagged by fraud criteria when tax returns are processed. The fraud unit also reviews returns based on tips from the Internal Revenue Service and other states.
lace autilis.	Automated Audit	Straightforward audits conducted by computer without review by auditors. Computers detect discrepancies between the return and information from the Internal Revenue Service, correct the return, and send out a notice notifying the taxpayer of taxes due or an additional refund.
	Office Audit	Moderate in complexity, office audits typically involve a single issue that cannot be reliably handled by computer but does not require a comprehensive audit. Typically, the auditor reviews the case and may write the taxpayer for additional information.
	Nonfiler Audit	A special type of office audit in which computers identify individuals who appear to have taxable income but did not file a return. If taxpayers do not file a return after being notified, the department generates and files a return based on the information they have and issues an order for any taxes due.
	Field Audit	Comprehensive audits typically conducted in person with the taxpayer. They often involve complex issues such as self-employment income.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor.

Sales and use tax enforcement is similar to income tax enforcement in that the department checks for calculation errors as it processes tax returns and follows up with various types of audits after processing is completed. After processing, sales tax enforcement relies on field audits to a greater extent than income tax enforcement because the department does not have as much third-party information to match with the sales tax returns. As shown in Table 1.5, the department uses several types of field audits. In addition to field audits, it also conducts (1) managed audits, in which businesses with good compliance records conduct self audits under the supervision of department auditors, and (2) self reviews, in which the department sends letters to all businesses in a selected industry asking them to review a particular issue and make appropriate changes to the sales or use taxes they owe. The department also does office audits for select issues that do not need to be examined at the business site.

Table 1.5: Types of Sales and Use Tax Audits

	Field Audit	Comprehensive audits of businesses conducted in the business' offices. Most sales tax audit time is spent on field audits.
For the sales and use tax, the department relies	Research and Development Audit	Field audits of a sample of businesses from selected industries to find out the size and nature of compliance problems in the industry.
primarily on field audits conducted in the business' offices.	Special Enforcement Audit	These hard-to-conduct field audits are targeted at businesses with a high percentage of cash transactions or whose books are kept by the owner.
	Managed Audit	Audits conducted by the business under the supervision of an auditor from the Department of Revenue. The department lets a business conduct a managed audit based on whether it has good records, is in good standing with the department, and understands the audit issues.
	Self-Review Audit	Department support staff send letters to all businesses in a selected industry asking them to review a particular issue and make any appropriate changes to the sales or use taxes they owe. The support staff help process amended returns, handle questions from businesses, and send reminder notices to businesses that do not respond.
	Office Audit	Audits of specific issues that can be conducted via correspondence, such as audits of customs declarations.
	Refund Claim Audit	Reviews of claims for sales tax refunds for tax paid on capital equipment purchases. These audits are a special type of office audit.
	Nexus Audit	Reviews to determine whether an out-of-state business has a physical presence in Minnesota and should therefore collect sales tax on behalf of the state.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor.

Auditing has both short- and longterm compliance benefits.

Enforcement activities have both short- and long-term benefits. In the short term, audits bring in additional revenue for the state by denying refunds or collecting additional tax, penalty, and interest owed. These benefits are relatively easy to measure and are often used to justify audit expenditures. In the long run, enforcement actions-or the perceived likelihood of enforcement actionsshould also result in improved voluntary compliance. While long-run benefits are harder to measure, one national study found that field audits may have a greater long-run impact on voluntary compliance than on short-term revenue yield. This study estimated that person-to-person field audits increased voluntary tax compliance by over \$11 for every dollar assessed in the audit.¹⁰

Collection of Past Due Payments

For all tax types, some taxpayers do not make full payment of taxes due at the time of filing or after an audit. Taxpayers that do not pay on time are referred to

¹⁰ Alan H. Plumley, The Determinants of Individual Income Tax Compliance, Estimating the Impacts of Tax Policy, Enforcement, and IRS Responsiveness, Publication 1916 (Rev. 11-96) (Washington, DC: Internal Revenue Service, 1996), 35.

the department's Collection Division, which attempts to collect these delinquent tax payments.¹¹ In 2005, this inventory of delinquent tax payments exceeded \$450 million.¹² The collection process begins with a notice stating the amount of delinquent payment and the taxpayer's rights during the collection process. The taxpayer has 30 days to respond to this notice, called the "billing" notice, before

Table 1.6: Enforcement Actions Used to CollectDelinquent Tax Payments

Lien	A lien is a claim or an encumbrance on property for payment of a debt. A lien gives the Department of Revenue a priority position against a debtor's property and extends the statute of limitations for collection to ten years from the date the lien is recorded. Once filed, a lien may be renewed indefinitely.
Levy	A levy is the act of taking property to pay a debt. The department can levy against wages, bank accounts, investment accounts, cash, rents, and other sources of income or property.
Seizure	A property seizure is a specific type of levy in which the state physically takes possession of a debtor's real property, such as a boat or car. The Department of Revenue must obtain district court approval to seize property, and the value of the seized property cannot exceed the tax debt.
Tax Refund Offset	The federal offset program allows the state to intercept federal tax refunds as payment for state individual income tax debts. Similarly, the state can claim individuals' Minnesota income tax refunds to satisfy tax debts.
Vendor Offset	The Department of Revenue may intercept payments being made to individuals and businesses who provide goods and services to the State of Minnesota.
Liquor Posting	If a business with a state license to sell liquor, beer, or wine files a late return or fails to make a tax payment on time, the business is put on the Department of Public Safety's "Delinquent Taxpayers List" published monthly. No wholesaler, manufacturer, or brewer may sell or deliver any product to a liquor retailer whose name appears on the posted list. State law requires the Department of Revenue to use liquor posting in all relevant cases and prohibits businesses subject to liquor posting from paying tax debts through installment payments.
Sales Tax Permit Revocation	Businesses that make sales or perform services subject to the state sales tax are required to have a permit to do so. The Department of Revenue can revoke the sales tax permit of a business that owes sales tax.
License Revocation	For certain individuals or businesses with state tax debts or unfilled returns, the Department of Revenue can direct city, county, and state licensing authorities to deny or revoke professional or business licenses, such as those for building contractors, concession operators, or physicians.

SOURCE: Minnesota Department of Revenue, Collection Manual (St. Paul, 2004).

¹¹ For tax returns filed with a balance due, payments must be made by the filing deadline. For audit assessments, the taxpayer has 60 days from the date of the assessment to pay.

¹² In general, the states' inventory of delinquent tax payments is not included in tax gap estimates.

Dereentere Change

the division takes other direct collection actions. As illustrated in Table 1.6, the division uses a number of tools to collect debts, from collecting money directly from bank accounts (levying) to revoking professional licenses until back taxes are paid. The division refers some cases to outside collection agencies that are paid based on the amount of debt they collect on the state's behalf.

TAX COMPLIANCE RESOURCES

For several years, the department has received additional funding to increase audit and collection efforts. Over the past several biennia, the Legislature has appropriated additional funds to the Department of Revenue to boost audit and collection activities. Compliance initiative funding, which was allocated primarily to tax audit programs and collection of past-due payments, totaled \$10 million for fiscal years 2002-03 and \$12.8 million for fiscal years 2004-05. The department received an additional \$17.8 million for the current biennium covering fiscal years 2006-07.

At the same time, nonenforcement programs at the department faced budget reductions. As shown in Table 1.7, comparing expenditures for the 2000-01 biennium to the 2004-05 biennium, the department's tax compliance and collection expenditures increased by about 40 percent. All other spending declined by about 30 percent.¹³ Overall, in the 2000-01 biennium, compliance and collection activities accounted for 43 percent of the department's expenditures. In the 2004-05 biennium, these activities accounted for about 60 percent of department expenditures, reflecting the Legislature and department's increased focus on tax law enforcement. We describe the results of these investments in the remainder of the report.

Table 1.7: Expenditures and Staffing by Biennium, Fiscal Years 2000-05

Expenditures in thousands

	FY 2000	-01	FY 2002-03		FY 2004-05 ^a		2000-01 to 2004-05	
	Expenditures	FTE	Expenditures	FTE	Expenditures	FTE	Expenditures	FTE
Compliance Collection	\$60,994 <u>21,931</u>	440 <u>184</u>	\$66,965 	460 <u>197</u>	\$ 84,929 29,889	523 <u>217</u>	39.2% 36.3	18.9% 17.8
Subtotal	\$82,925	624	\$92,322	657	\$114,818	740	38.5%	18.6%
All Other ^b	109,607	518	104,946	485	76,890	428	-29.8	-17.4
Total	\$192,532	1,142	\$197,268	1,142	\$191,708	1,168	-0.4%	2.2%

NOTE: FTE is a "full time equivalent" measure of staffing. The FTE counts shown are for the second year of each biennium.

^a Beginning in fiscal year 2004, rent expenditures were allocated to each program activity, including compliance and collection, based on the number of FTEs in each activity.

^b The Department of Revenue's other budget categories include: Administrative Support; Appeals and Legal Services; Property Tax Administration and State Aid; Tax Payment and Return Processing; and Technology Development, Operations, and Support. Rent expenditures are included in an administrative budget category through fiscal year 2003.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue Finance Division data.

¹³ Beginning in the 2004-05 biennium, rent is allocated to all budget categories based on staffing complements. In prior years, it was included in a centralized, administrative budget category.

Individual Income Tax

SUMMARY

The Minnesota Department of Revenue uses a variety of compliance strategies to address an estimated \$600 million individual income tax gap. *Compliance initiative funding has helped increase the percentage of* income tax returns audited, and overall, these audits have yielded \$6 to \$7 per dollar invested. However, some types of audits have been less productive than others, and the department has made limited progress in addressing one of the biggest contributors to the tax gap—underreporting of self-employment income. To improve audit productivity, the division needs to better use available data for identifying noncompliance, address staff turnover problems, and make better use of audit data to monitor its performance. Income Tax Division education services are intended to help taxpayers understand and voluntarily meet their tax obligations, but the department needs to do more to evaluate the impact of these programs. Answering taxpayers' questions is another strategy to improve voluntary compliance; but in 2005, many callers had a hard time getting through to assistance representatives. In addition, income tax telephone assistance is not well structured to help taxpayers with limited English proficiency, and the department needs to do more to ensure that taxpayers are getting correct answers to their questions.

Minnesota relies on the individual income tax as a major source of state revenue, and for many Minnesotans, annual filing of an income tax return is their most visible interaction with state government. With over two million individual income tax filers, ensuring that taxpayers file accurate returns can have a big impact on state revenues. And, with taxpayers underreporting their tax liabilities by about \$600 million a year, the Department of Revenue knows that it faces a significant compliance problem.

Two of the department's divisions focus on individual income tax compliance the Tax Operations Division, in charge of certain compliance actions as incoming returns are processed, and the Individual Income Tax Division, charged more generally with taxpayer assistance and auditing. In this chapter, we address the following questions:

- How effectively does the Department of Revenue (1) identify individuals who may have underpaid their income taxes and (2) audit their tax returns?
- How effectively do the department's education and assistance services help taxpayers understand and meet their income tax obligations?

To answer these questions, we interviewed Department of Revenue officials and reviewed department policies, procedures, and other documents, including the Income Tax Division compliance plan. To assess the effectiveness of income tax

Minnesota has over two million income tax filers. auditing, we examined tax gap studies by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and the Department of Revenue and analyzed summary data on audit results and expenditures for audit programs. We also analyzed available case-level data for audits completed after mid-December 2002. To evaluate taxpayer assistance efforts, we obtained and analyzed available department data on taxpayer education programs, interviewed officials at a nonprofit organization that partners with the department in providing free tax preparation assistance, and analyzed call volume and performance data and call quality assessment reports for the income tax telephone assistance center.

AUDITING

The primary purpose of auditing taxpayers is to improve overall compliance with tax laws. The audit process has many phases, from measuring the tax gap, to choosing an appropriate audit technique, to monitoring the effectiveness of audit programs. To assess the department's tax auditing, we used criteria based on the five audit phases that are listed in Table 2.1. In the following sections, we evaluate the department's audit efforts against each of these criteria.

Table 2.1: Criteria for Evaluating Audit Programs

The extent to which the Department of Revenue:

- 1. Identifies the size and nature of the tax gap,
- 2. Establishes an audit presence that creates an incentive for taxpayers to comply voluntarily,
- 3. Develops tools to effectively identify taxpayers who do not pay their taxes,
- 4. Conducts productive tax audits, and
- 5. Monitors the effectiveness of audit programs.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor.

Measuring the Tax Gap

Identifying the size and nature of the tax gap (the difference between taxes owed and taxes voluntarily reported) helps policymakers and the Department of Revenue know the amount of income tax noncompliance. By identifying areas with large compliance problems, tax gap studies help the department target its resources. Monitoring changes in the tax gap over time helps policy makers assess progress in improving tax compliance. We reviewed the department's tax gap estimates and found that:

• The Department of Revenue used a reasonable approach to identify the size and nature of the income tax gap.

In 2004, the department estimated that the income tax gap for tax year 1999 was about \$604 million. Underreporting of nonwage income—such as self-employment income—was responsible for most of the income tax gap, as shown

Tax gap studies help identify areas with large compliance problems.

Our evaluation focused on five key phases of the audit process.

INCOME TAX

income is a major

contributor to the income tax gap.

Underreported self-employment

Table 2.2: Minnesota Income Tax Gap Estimates, TaxYear 1999

in Table 2.2.¹ Nonfilers, including those with wage income and nonwage

	Amount of Ui (in mi			
Type of Noncompliance	Wage Income	Nonwage Income	Total	
Underreported Income Nonfiler Total	\$2 <u>65</u> \$68	\$477 <u>59</u> \$536	\$479 <u>124</u> \$604	

NOTE: Wage income includes hourly wages, salaries, tips, and commissions. Nonwage income includes income earned outside of the traditional employer-employee relationship, such as self-employment income, taxable interest and dividends, taxable pensions, gambling income, and net capital gains. Amounts may not add to total due to rounding.

SOURCE: Minnesota Department of Revenue, *Individual Income Tax Gap, Tax Year 1999* (St. Paul, 2004), 4.

Minnesota's approach to estimating the tax gap is reasonable, but the tax gap estimates should be viewed as rough approximations because of data limitations. Minnesota's tax gap estimate was based in large part on census data. Differences between income reported on census forms and Minnesota taxable income make it difficult to accurately estimate taxes owed. For example, the census data on interest income does not distinguish between taxable and nontaxable interest.

The IRS's recent study of the federal income tax gap generally parallels findings in the Minnesota tax gap study, adding credence to Minnesota's findings. The IRS recently estimated that the federal tax gap attributable to underreporting of the individual income tax is \$197 billion.³ Both the IRS and Minnesota studies found that most of this income tax gap is due to underreporting of nonwage income. In fact, the IRS study found that roughly half of the federal income tax gap is due to underreporting of self-employment and other business income.⁴ Overstated deductions and credits were responsible for about 16 percent of

Nonfilers – those who do not file a tax return at all – are another major source of noncompliance.

¹ Wage income includes hourly wages, salaries, tips, commissions, and other compensation paid by an employer. Nonwage income includes income earned outside of the traditional employeremployee relationship, such as self-employment income, taxable interest and dividends, taxable pensions and annuities, unemployment compensation, net capital gains, and gambling income.

² The income categories were based on federal adjusted gross income for 1999.

³ Internal Revenue Service, *IRS Updates Tax Gap Estimates, IR-2006-28* (Washington, DC, 2006). To estimate the tax gap, the IRS thoroughly audited 46,000 individual income tax returns. The IRS has also estimated that, among all tax types, the nonfiling tax gap is \$27 billion and the "underpayment gap" of taxes reported but not paid on time is another \$33 billion.

⁴ Business income includes net income from proprietorships, partnerships, S-corporations, rent, royalties, estates, trusts, and farms.

TAX COMPLIANCE

underreported tax liabilities. This latter finding is particularly useful to the Department of Revenue because the Minnesota study did not examine the extent to which taxpayers overstated their deductions and credits. The department can use results of the IRS study to help target its audits because Minnesota taxes are based in large part on the federal income tax return.

The Department of Revenue plans to conduct periodic tax gap studies that will allow it to track changes in the size and nature of the income tax gap in Minnesota. The department plans to have tax gap results for tax year 2002 in 2006, including estimates of the amounts attributable to nonfilers and income underreporting. These studies should help the department assess how much progress it is making toward reducing the tax gap.

While the department did not track how much of the gap it eventually recovered through its enforcement programs, past audit data suggest that the department ultimately collected about \$40 million of the \$604 million tax gap for 1999. The tax gap figures reflect taxes owed prior to any audit or collection activities, so the net tax gap was about \$564 million.

Establishing Audit Presence

Establishing audit presence means doing enough audits among the various segments of the individual income taxpayer population to make taxpayers aware that they have a realistic chance of being audited. Tax auditing programs are based on the assumption that voluntary compliance tends to improve as the percentage of returns audited increases. In fact, Minnesota's tax gap study provides some evidence for this assumption. Wage income, nearly all of which is verified with third-party income matches, has a much higher compliance rate than self-employment income, which is much harder to verify. The tax gap study found that 98 percent of taxes attributable to wage income were voluntarily reported, compared with 76 percent for nonwage income.⁵

It is important to establish an audit presence for all major sources of income, especially when noncompliance is high. The Department of Revenue does this by conducting various types of audits ranging from simple checks of taxpayers' math calculations to thorough examinations of taxpayers' books and records in their homes. (See Table 1.4 for a description of each type of income tax audit.) For Minnesota, audits conducted by either the federal or state government may affect voluntary compliance because the Minnesota income tax return is closely tied to the federal tax return.

In evaluating audit presence among Minnesota individual income taxpayers, we found that:

• The Department of Revenue has improved its overall audit presence during the past seven years.

The department is doing a second tax gap study to track changes in noncompliance.

For audit programs to have an impact on voluntary compliance, taxpayers need to believe they have a realistic chance of being audited.

⁵ Minnesota Department of Revenue, *Individual Income Tax Gap, Tax Year 1999* (St. Paul, 2004), 6-7.

As shown in Table 2.3, between fiscal years 1998 and 2005, the Department of Revenue has increased the percentage of returns audited in each category of post-processing audits, including field, office, automated, and nonfiler audits. As a percentage of income tax returns filed, post-processing audit rates increased from about 0.8 percent in fiscal year 1998 to 2.1 percent in 2005. Field audits, the most comprehensive type of audit, had a six-fold increase, going from 0.03 percent of returns to 0.2 percent.

Table 2.3: Minnesota Income Tax Returns Audited, Fiscal Years1998 and 2005

	Number of Returns Audited		Returns Audited as a Percentage of Returns Filed		
	FY 1998	FY 2005	FY 1998	FY 2005	Percentage Point Change
Early Audits	123,288	99,482	5.5%	4.1%	-1.4%
Post-Processing Audits					
Field	641	4,512	0.03	0.2	0.2
Office	9,072	17,322	0.4	0.7	0.3
Nonfiler	3,970	10,308	0.2	0.4	0.2
Automated	4,488	18,055	<u>0.2</u>	<u>0.7</u>	<u>0.5</u>
Subtotal	18,171	50,197	0.8%	2.1%	1.3%

NOTE: Typically, computers scan all returns during processing, but the early audit figures include only those returns flagged for review that resulted in an adjustment to the tax due or refund amount. In contrast, post-processing audits include returns audited regardless of whether they resulted in a tax adjustment. Early audit figures for the Tax Operations Division are based on calendar years.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue data.

The percentage of returns subject to early audits declined between 1998 and 2005, but this does not reflect a decline in audit presence. The department did not reduce the number of returns screened during processing nor did it cut the number of screening criteria. Instead, according to the department, the number of early audits declined because taxpayers are making fewer mistakes that trigger them. This is likely due to increased electronic filing of tax returns.

The department plans to make more use of a less-expensive alternative to audits, namely an "education letter." The department may send education letters to a group of taxpayers that appears to be out of compliance on a particular issue, such as the education credit. The department sends to these taxpayers computer-generated letters that identify the issue in question, describe the rules they should follow, and ask them to review their returns. If the return is incorrect, the letter asks the taxpayers to file an amended return and/or file correctly on future returns. In 2005, the department sent seven different education letters to a total of about 16,000 taxpayers.

While overall audit coverage is important in establishing audit presence, it is also important to ensure sufficient audit coverage in areas with large tax gaps. The department has appropriately tried to target audits at two areas responsible for a large share of the estimated \$604 million income tax gap—nonfilers and underreporting of nonwage income by people who do file tax returns. Nonfilers include individuals who have wage income and those who have self-employment

The department has appropriately tried to target audits at areas with large tax gaps. or other types of nonwage income. As shown in Table 2.2, about half of the nonfiler tax gap involved wage income.

In assessing how well the department targets audits at major contributors to the tax gap, we found that:

• Of the two major tax gap components, the Department of Revenue has improved audit presence among nonfilers, but it has made limited progress in achieving audit presence among self-employed individuals.

The Department of Revenue has substantially improved its presence among nonfilers by more than doubling the number of nonfiler audits undertaken each year, from about 4,000 per year during fiscal years 1998 through 2000 to over 10,000 per year beginning in fiscal year 2002. Income tax assessments resulting from nonfiler audits have also increased—from \$13 to \$17 million per year prior to fiscal year 2002 to an annual average of \$28 million in fiscal years 2002 through 2005.

In contrast, the department's efforts to establish audit presence for selfemployment income has been hampered by staffing issues, the decline in federal field audits, and data limitations in the department's computer systems. High employee turnover has limited the department's ability to target audits at noncompliance by self-employed individuals. Self-employment audits are much more complex than audits of wage income, and they generally require field audit techniques rather than simpler office or automated audits. They also require auditors with considerable training and experience.⁶

With compliance initiative funding, the Income Tax Division has been hiring many new auditors. But turnover among these new hires has been high, particularly among Twin-Cities area field auditors who have four-year accounting degrees. For example, in 2005, the income tax regional office that covers most of the Twin Cities area had 50 percent turnover. As a result, most field auditors lack the skills and experience necessary to effectively audit selfemployed taxpayers. In fiscal year 2005, about half of all field audits were conducted by auditors with less than two years of experience, and the types of audits assigned to them were generally not related to self-employment income. In addition, the senior auditors most qualified to conduct self-employment audits have had less audit time because they have been training new employees. Consequently, the department has completed far fewer audits targeting selfemployment income than it would like.

The department attributes the high turnover among recently hired auditors to high demand for accountants in the private sector, especially after the federal government enacted new accounting and auditing requirements for publicly traded corporations in 2002.⁷ In fact, the departmentwide turnover rate for entry-

Since 2000, the department has doubled the number of nonfiler audits undertaken each year.

The department has made limited progress addressing noncompliance by the self-employed.

⁶ According to the Income Tax Division director, these complex audits generally require auditors with a minimum of a four-year accounting degree and three years of experience.

⁷ The new requirements were enacted under what is commonly called the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, *Public Law* 107-204.

INCOME TAX

High turnover among new auditors has hampered efforts to do more audits aimed at detecting underreported self-employment income.

Third-party information from the IRS and employers are important tools for identifying noncompliant taxpayers. level revenue tax specialists—the employee class used for tax auditors just out of school—increased from about 2 percent in fiscal year 2002 to about 16 percent in fiscal years 2004 and 2005. According to the department, exit interviews and focus group discussions with current employees showed that dissatisfaction with low salaries is the main reason auditors left the department.

A second factor that has likely weakened audit presence for self-employment income is the decade-long decline in federal field audit coverage. As we noted above, field audits are important tools to get at self-employment income and other complex issues that cannot be handled through an office audit. Federal field audits are as important as state field audits because the state taxes are closely linked to income reported on the federal tax return. Nationally, federal field audit coverage declined from 0.7 percent of returns to 0.2 percent between 1995 and 2004. While these are nationwide figures, state officials said that federal audit rates also declined in Minnesota. Although the Department of Revenue has increased its field audit coverage, the percentage point increase in department audits was less than half of the decline in federal field audit coverage since 1995. If federal audit rates declined in Minnesota as much as they did in the entire nation, the combined federal and state field audit rate in Minnesota would have declined from over 0.7 percent to about 0.4 percent during this tenyear period.

A third factor that has hampered the department's efforts to reduce noncompliance by self-employed individuals is that its computer systems have lacked certain data that would help it identify people who underreport their income. We describe this problem in the next section.

Identifying Noncompliant Taxpayers

Accurately identifying returns that are likely to be noncompliant helps ensure that the department's limited resources are effectively targeted at compliance problems. For taxpayers who file returns, there are a variety of tools that can be used to identify potential underreporting of income and overstated deductions and credits. These tools also can help identify individuals who appear to have taxable income but did not file a state return. In assessing the resources the department has available to identify noncompliance, we found that:

• The Department of Revenue has effectively used many, but not all, available tools to identify taxpayers who may have underreported their tax liabilities.

As shown in Table 2.4, the department obtains a variety of data to identify noncompliant taxpayers. These data sources include federal tax return information, W-2 reports of wage income and taxes withheld by employers, Form-1099 information reports on nonwage income, federal audit reports, federal tax return adjustments, and fraud reports from the IRS and other states.

Generally, the Department of Revenue has effectively used data matching from these information sources to instigate audits that result in additional tax assessments. Some discrepancies identified from these sources lead to automated audits, under which computers send out notices of the discrepancies and the

Table 2.4: Information Used to Detect TaxpayerNoncompliance

IRS Audit Reports	The Internal Revenue Service regularly reports to the Revenue Department the results of completed audits involving Minnesota residents.
Federal Tax Return Adjustments	For each tax year, the IRS sends a series of six computer files indicating all adjustments it made to federal returns of Minnesota residents, except for changes due to federal field or correspondence audits (which are included in IRS audit reports, above). The files include changes to income, deductions, and credits. For tax year 2002, for example, the IRS sent Revenue adjustments for 22,000 returns to the Department of Revenue. Most of these adjustments were reported in a file sent to Minnesota in 2005.
Information as Reported on Federal Tax Return	The IRS provides electronic files containing federal income tax return data as reported by Minnesota residents. The data can be used to verify income reported on the Minnesota tax return, including the federal adjusted gross income, adjustments made to determine Minnesota income, household status, and number of dependents. Data are also used to check information reported on the property tax refund returns.
W-2 Forms	W-2s contain information from employers, including wages earned and taxes withheld. Employers submit over 4 million W-2s per year for Minnesota wage earners.
1099 Forms	1099 reports are third-party information reports sent by banks and other institutions to the IRS showing nonwage income, such as interest, dividends, and capital gains. The IRS sends to the Department of Revenue electronic files with 1099 information for Minnesota residents.
Fraud Reports	The federal government and states, including Minnesota, exchange information on fraud cases and schemes.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor.

The department is effectively using data-matching techniques to identify potential noncompliance.

amount of taxes due. Unless the assessments are appealed by the taxpayers, auditors are not involved. Other discrepancies require hands-on investigations by office or field auditors. Overall, the department has generated much revenue from these data matches. For example, the department's office and automated audits of taxpayers whose returns were adjusted by the IRS produced about \$10.5 million in additional state assessments during fiscal year 2005.

On the other hand, the department had other data that it did not use effectively. For example, the department has a backlog of federal audit reports that can be used to determine whether taxpayers owe additional state taxes. The IRS regularly reports federal audit results for Minnesota taxpayers to the Department of Revenue. Department staff review these reports to see whether (1) the taxpayer also owes additional state taxes and (2) the taxpayer has already filed an amended Minnesota tax return to report the additional tax liability. Until recently, the IRS submitted summaries of these audit reports in paper format. Over the last two years, the IRS has increasingly submitted these reports in electronic form.

INCOME TAX

The department does not participate in an IRS program that would allow it to identify certain noncompliance taxpayers.

The department is not efficiently matching employers' W-2 wage reports with Minnesota income tax returns. The Department of Revenue has continued to use the paper audit reports to check Minnesota tax returns, but it did not use the reports submitted in electronic form until early 2006. When the IRS first started providing the reports in electronic format, the department decided to develop a new data system to handle them; it also decided not to use these electronically submitted reports until the new system was completed. However, development of the new system did not proceed as expected, and delays in completing it led to a backlog of unused federal audit reports. As a result, the number of audits based on these reports declined from 1,892 audits in fiscal year 2004 to 631 in fiscal year 2005. The amount of assessments made from these reports also declined from \$5.0 million to \$1.8 million. Although the department can still use these federal audit reports, department officials said that delays typically make it harder to collect the taxes owed.

Minnesota is one of only four states with an income tax that does not participate in the IRS' "Fed-State" tax processing program. Under this program, the IRS processes electronically filed state and federal returns together. This means that when the IRS rejects a federal return because of certain errors or missing data, the associated state return is rejected as well. If Minnesota were to participate in this program, it would allow Minnesota to take advantage of certain checks that the IRS routinely performs during processing. However, Minnesota faces some barriers to joining the Fed-State program. First, Minnesota must work out a way for the federal government to handle property tax refund returns submitted with the income tax return. Second, participation could delay processing Minnesota tax returns by up to 2 days while the state returns go through the IRS filing checks then get sent to the department. Third, the department estimates that it would cost roughly \$50,000 to make the computer programming changes necessary to participate in the program.

The department's ability to efficiently match tax returns with information on W-2 Wage and Tax Statements is hampered because approximately one million W-2s (about one-fourth of the total) are submitted to the state on paper. In addition, some employers do not submit W-2s at all, and other employers submit W-2s in a variety of electronic formats. The department is currently undertaking a project to hand-enter W-2 data submitted in paper form and seek W-2s from employers who failed to file them. Hand-entry of W-2 information is inefficient, and it prevents the department from making timely matches between W-2s and income tax returns.⁸

Until early 2006, the Department of Revenue's data warehouse lacked other data that could help identify possible income tax noncompliance. For example, the department wants to use data on drivers' licenses, motor vehicle registrations, and fishing and hunting licenses to identify nonfilers and establish underreporting of income by self-employed individuals. These data could be used to establish residency and identify residents whose lifestyles are inconsistent with their reported income. While the department has had the authority to access these data, the data were not previously linked together, and auditors had to look up information one case at a time. By placing these data in a computerized database

⁸ Employers are required to submit W-2 information forms to the IRS and the Department of Revenue by February 28. As a result, many returns may be submitted too early for the department to use this information to check returns as they are processed.

with the appropriate links, the department will be able to more efficiently identify potential noncompliance, particularly for self-employed workers. The department started obtaining these data and testing their use in January 2006.

In another case, the department has not used information it receives to verify some key items reported on the state income tax return. We do not describe this situation in detail to avoid providing a blueprint for tax evasion. To determine how much noncompliance it could identify if it were to routinely use this information, the department plans to match the data to state returns in 2006.

Audit Productivity

The department does not audit every return that is potentially noncompliant. To productively use its limited resources, the department needs to weigh various factors when selecting returns to audit, such as potential audit yield and the potential to establish audit presence among certain types of taxpayers. In this section, we measure audit productivity in terms of the amount of revenue raised per dollar spent. It is important to recognize that this measure does not include audits' impact on voluntary compliance, which though very important, we cannot quantify. Nevertheless, audit productivity expressed as revenue per dollar spent relates to the audit's impact on voluntary compliance because audits that do not effectively discover understated tax liability are less likely to bring about improvements in voluntary compliance.

Overall Audit Productivity

Our overall productivity measure is based on estimates of the amount of audit assessments collected from fiscal year 2005 audits divided by audit-related spending during that year. Audit assessments include refunds denied, additional taxes, penalties, and interest.⁹ Audit spending includes spending related to planning, conducting, and supervising income tax audits and collecting assessments made in those audits.¹⁰ In our review of income tax audit productivity, we found that:

• Department of Revenue income tax audits are generally effective at raising revenue, generating about \$6 to \$7 in revenue per dollar spent.

Not all taxes assessed because of an audit are collected.

 $^{^{9}}$ Assessments are net of (1) credits owed to the taxpayer that were found in audits, and (2) reductions made to the original assessment after appeals by the taxpayer. Assessments do not include additional interest charged after the audit was completed.

¹⁰ Audit-related spending includes payroll, equipment, supply, and contract expenses related to income tax audits within the Income Tax Division, the Tax Operations Division, and the Collection Division. Some expenses, including administrative and computer support expenses, were allocated between audit and non-audit activities based on estimates by the Income Tax Division director. Audit-related spending also includes estimated Collection Division expenses for collecting debts related to the income tax audits. The Collection Division does not track collection expenses by type of debt. Thus, we used the overall average cost of 7.2 cents per dollar collected by the Collection Division for fiscal year 2005. Our spending estimates do not include the cost of space in state-owned buildings or the administrative support from other divisions within the Department of Revenue or other state agencies.
INCOME TAX

As shown in Table 2.5, through its income tax audits, the department assessed about \$93 million in fiscal year 2005.¹¹ Early audits and fraud audits, usually performed during tax processing, resulted in assessments of \$28 million. Most of the assessments for early and fraud audits are refund reductions, which means that they are immediately collected. The department assessed \$64 million through field, office, nonfiler, and automated audits, all of which are conducted after tax processing.

The Department of Revenue does not actually collect the entire amount assessed as a result of its audits. Based on past collection trends, we estimate that the department will eventually collect about 67 percent, or \$62 million, of the fiscal year 2005 assessments. These collection estimates are probably low because they are based on the percentage of assessments actually collected as of June 30, 2005, for income tax assessments made between December 2002 and June 2004. The department will likely collect even more of these assessments with time.

Table 2.5: Estimated Income Tax Audit Productivity by Type of Audit,Fiscal Year 2005

Type Of Audit	Assessments ^a (in millions)	Estimated Assessments Per Audit Dollar Spent	Estimated Audit and Collection Expenditures ^b (in thousands)	Estimated Collections (in millions)	Estimated Collections Per Dollar Spent
Audits During Processing					
Early Audits	\$25.5	\$16.18	\$1,606	\$22.4	\$13.92
Fraud	2.8	16.60	177	2.2	12.35
Subtotal	\$28.3	\$16.22	\$1,783	\$24.5	\$13.77
Post-Processing Audits					
Field	\$22.7	\$ 6.45	\$3,854	\$11.4	\$2.97
Office	12.7	9.97	1,527	8.7	5.67
Nonfiler	22.8	32.30	1,421	12.3	8.65
Automated	6.1	10.76	684	5.2	7.65
Subtotal	\$64.2	\$10.60	\$7,487	\$37.6	\$5.02
Total	\$92.5	\$11.86	\$9,270	\$62.2	\$6.71

NOTE: The assessments per audit dollar spent are based on the cost of audits only; they do not include expenditures by the Collection Division used to collect the assessments. In contrast, the collections per dollar spent reflect both the cost of audits and the cost of collection.

^a Assessments include refunds denied, additional taxes, penalties, and interest due to audits. Assessments are net of (1) credits owed to the taxpayer that were found in audits, and (2) reductions made to the original assessment after appeals by the taxpayer. Assessments do not include additional interest charged after the audit was completed. Early audit assessments made by the Tax Operations Division are based on calendar year 2005.

^b Expenditures include audit dollars—Income Tax Division and Tax Operating Division expenditures attributable to the audit activity—and Collection Division expenditures based on the reported average cost of 7.2 cents per dollar collected.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue audit and expenditure data.

¹¹ The assessment figures in this chapter do not include assessments made by the Corporate and Sales Tax Division's partnership unit. This unit made income-tax related assessments of \$1.6 million in fiscal year 2004 and \$13.8 million in fiscal year 2005.

Estimates of the amount of tax ultimately collected as a result of audits may also be low because they do not take into account indirect effects on voluntary compliance. The impact of audits on voluntary compliance has not been measured in Minnesota, but as discussed above, the impact could be substantial. For example, in fiscal year 2004, the department's income tax fraud unit assessed several million dollars for returns claiming working family credits and dependent deductions to which the families were not entitled. The fraud unit believes that the number of similar fraudulent refund claims greatly diminished during the 2005 filing season because widespread publicity led to a change in taxpayer behavior. Such reductions in fraudulent behavior are not counted in the audit productivity results.

Productivity of Audit Projects

In fiscal year 2005, the Income Tax Division conducted about 55,000 audits that were grouped into approximately 100 projects. Each project is defined by the reason tax returns were selected for audit, such as an income discrepancy between the federal return and the state property tax refund return. Some projects may involve more than one type of audit. In the above example, some simple discrepancies can be handled with an automated audit, while other more complex discrepancies require an office audit. In addition to an overall evaluation of audit productivity, we also assessed the value of specific audit projects.¹² We found that:

• While overall productivity is good, some income tax audit projects are not very productive.

As shown in Table 2.5, field audit projects, in particular, had relatively low productivity, yielding about \$3 in additional revenue per dollar spent. We estimate that other types of income tax audits will generate between \$5 and \$14 in additional revenue per dollar spent. Two common types of field audit projects—involving self-employment income and a certain type of deduction—had productivity that was less than one-third of the average field audit.¹³ This suggests that these two types of projects may bring in less revenue than they cost. The department conducts many of these deduction audits because they are good training audits for inexperienced auditors.

One reason field audits have lower productivity than other audits is that their greater complexity makes them more resource intensive. For example, field audits of self-employed workers typically involve looking at evidence that the workers' lifestyles are inconsistent with their reported income. As we discussed above, a second reason that field audits have low productivity is high turnover among field auditors, causing experienced auditors to spend less time auditing in order to train new employees. Also, according to the Income Tax Division director, poor performance by some of its experienced field auditors reduces productivity.

Field audits are an important tool for addressing the tax gap, but their productivity could be improved.

Productivity estimates do not include the impact audits have on voluntary compliance.

¹² For this comparison, we measured productivity in terms of assessments per audit hour.

¹³ Selection criteria for audit projects are not public, so we do not describe project details in this report.

INCOME TAX

Another factor that reduces productivity is the high percentage of audits that did not find any noncompliance, suggesting that the department did not effectively select noncompliant returns. In fiscal year 2005, 34 percent of the department's income tax field audits resulted in no change to the taxes owed. This "no change" rate is more than twice as high as the 15 percent no change rate for IRS field audits in 2004.

Field audit projects, particularly self-employment audits, are designed to improve compliance by changing taxpayers' behavior in the long run. Thus, field audits should not be judged solely on the basis of short-term productivity. Nevertheless, productivity is important in its own right, and better productivity could enhance the audits' impact on voluntary compliance.

Among the remaining audit categories, the fraud unit is highly productive, particularly after being expanded in fiscal year 2003. Typically, the fraud unit saves state revenue by denying all or a portion of taxpayer refund claims.¹⁴ In fiscal year 2005, the fraud unit saved or brought in over \$12 per dollar spent. After the department increased the income tax fraud unit staff from one to three, assessments increased from less than \$1 million per year to an average of about \$5 million per year during the last three years. Recently, the department expanded the fraud unit again. As of January 2006, the fraud unit has five permanent employees and plans to supplement their staff with temporary employees or other office audit staff during the filing season.

The cost and effectiveness of debt collection activities have a large effect on the productivity of certain types of audits. For example, nonfiler audits had the highest productivity based on assessments per dollar spent by the Income Tax Division, but its productivity was well below that of the fraud audits based on actual collections per dollar spent, including collection costs. This is because it is harder to collect nonfiler assessments than most other audit types. In contrast, ability to collect was not a major issue for fraud assessments because most fraud assessments were simply denied refunds.

Recent Trends in Audit Productivity

We also examined how productivity changed after the Department of Revenue started receiving additional funding for compliance initiatives. To assess whether these increases—or future increases—are worthwhile, it is important to monitor whether the department's audit productivity has reached a point of significant diminishing returns—that is, that additional compliance funding will result in little additional revenue. Our analysis of productivity trends for income tax audits shows that:

• Investments in tax enforcement have not yet reached the point of diminishing returns.

In fact, the Department of Revenue has increased its income tax audit productivity over the past seven years. Assessments per dollar spent on income

Audits by the fraud detection unit are highly productive.

¹⁴ For some tax returns, the fraud unit also examines returns submitted in previous years by the same individual. If it finds that the proper tax was not paid, it will assess the individual for taxes owed plus penalties and interest.

tax activities increased by 57 percent between fiscal years 1998 and 2005.¹⁵ Assessments increased by 88 percent, while spending was up 20 percent. Part of the productivity increase is due to greater emphasis on direct compliance activities that generate revenue and less emphasis on taxpayer assistance and education. Also, part of this increase occurred because the greater use of electronic filing reduced the number of tax booklets that needed to be mailed to taxpayers.

Monitoring Audit Effectiveness

Monitoring the effectiveness of audit programs is important if the Department of Revenue is to maintain a productive income tax audit program. Monitoring can help the department redirect its audit resources as patterns of noncompliance change over time or audit projects fail to yield expected results. We found that:

• The Department of Revenue improved its performance data, but it is not making the best use of these data to evaluate project performance.

The Income Tax Division has work in progress to monitor major changes in tax compliance, but it does little to monitor how specific audit projects affect voluntary compliance. Through upcoming tax gap studies, the first of which is due in 2006, the department will be able to monitor how overall compliance has changed for nonfilers and nonwage income, two key components of the tax gap. However, the tax gap studies cannot be used to monitor changes in more specific taxpayer behavior, such as compliance with certain income deduction requirements.

In December 2002, the Income Tax Division established a new audit performance data system that tracks audit results. This system tracks audit hours, assessments, and the amount actually collected for each audit completed after mid-December 2002. The database also allows staff to analyze results for different projects, regional offices, and employees. But during the past few years, the division has focused on hiring new auditors and expanding its audit program. It has only recently begun to use the system to evaluate project performance.

The Income Tax Division has many audit projects that are targeted at improving voluntary compliance related to specific aspects of the tax return, but it has measured changes in voluntary compliance for only a few projects. For example, the division does not usually track the extent to which audited taxpayers who were found to be noncompliant became more compliant in the years following the audits. An example in which it did track behavior changes involves its "education letter" projects. Under one of these projects, the department sent

The department needs to do more to evaluate audit projects and modify them, as needed.

¹⁵ To track changes in productivity over time, we used a productivity measure that differs from the measure we used elsewhere in this chapter. We divided assessments by total division expenditures, including audit expenditures and nonaudit expenditures because available data do not isolate audit-related expenditures prior to fiscal year 2005.

letters to taxpayers whose claim of the K-12 education tax credit was questionable. In the letters, the department explained the eligibility criteria and asked taxpayers to self-audit their claim for the credit and file an amended return, if needed. The department monitored the future use of K-12 education credits by taxpayers who received these letters. It found that these taxpayers used the education credit substantially less often after receiving the education letters. Similar follow-up studies could be performed for many of its audit projects.

The early audit unit in the Tax Operations Division has a system that reports results of its early audits, but it lacks several features that would be useful for monitoring the performance of its audit selection criteria. The early audit unit's reporting system tracks overall assessments made, but it does not usually track adjustments due to appeals or the amount ultimately collected.¹⁶ The system tracks the number of returns flagged by each criterion, but it does not accurately track the assessments attributable to each criterion. Instead, it credits the entire assessment to all of the criteria that flagged the return, making it difficult to tell how important each criterion is in identifying noncompliance. For example, if a return is flagged by three criteria, such as a math error, a questionable deduction, and a questionable credit, the system would credit the total assessment to all three criteria. Another limitation of the department's early audit monitoring is that it does not systematically analyze whether thresholds are set at appropriate levels. For example, if returns are flagged because they exceed a certain threshold, the reporting system only records that the threshold was exceeded, not the amount by which it was exceeded. Thus, these reports do not indicate what the impact would be if the department were to raise or lower that threshold.

TAXPAYER ASSISTANCE

The Department of Revenue Individual Income Tax Division has primary responsibility for income tax assistance, and the division's goal is to help taxpayers understand their tax obligations and file timely, accurate returns. As discussed in Chapter 1, taxpayer assistance includes several elements: making clear, understandable forms and publications readily available; educating taxpayers to help them understand tax laws and the filing process; and responding to taxpayers who call or write with questions about their individual circumstances. Our evaluation focused on educating taxpayers and responding to inquiries.

Educating Taxpayers

A group of seven staff in the Income Tax Division provides most education services. According to division managers and the division compliance plan, the division's primary education strategies are to (1) support free income tax return preparation programs, (2) provide training for paid tax preparers, and (3) assist taxpayers for whom English is a second language. In addition, the division uses education letter projects that combine education on specific tax issues with

The department uses several strategies to help income taxpayers understand their obligations.

¹⁶ The only time that it tracked how much of its assessments were actually collected was for audits funded by the recent compliance initiatives.

self-auditing. To be an effective strategy in closing the tax gap, education activities should be aligned with compliance priorities and their performance assessed against expected outcomes. In evaluating education services, we found that:

• The Department of Revenue has expanded its income tax education efforts but could do more to evaluate the impact of these services.

Return Preparation Programs

The Income Tax Division partners with the IRS and nonprofit organizations to provide two tax return preparation programs that are free to qualifying taxpayers: Volunteer Income Tax Assistance and Tax Counseling for the Elderly. With state and federal support for the programs, various community groups organize tax preparation sites across the state and recruit volunteers who help lowerincome taxpayers, seniors, and the disabled file their state and federal income tax returns.¹⁷ The IRS provides some training materials and computer software that supports free electronic filing at the sites. The Department of Revenue coordinates the program statewide, providing training materials, training volunteers, and providing computer and software technical support. According to the division, the IRS has reduced its support for these programs over the last several years, but the Department of Revenue and the volunteer organizations have tried to fill in the gaps. One of the program's biggest challenges is obtaining a sufficient number of computers powerful enough to run the tax preparation software needed to support electronic filing. In the past two years, the Department of Revenue has provided over 200 surplus computers, plus monitors and printers, to volunteer tax preparation programs around the state.

The Income Tax Division's stated performance goal for volunteer tax preparation assistance is to "continue to provide support" for Volunteer Income Tax Assistance and Tax Counseling for the Elderly programs. Division officials said that they would like to increase the number of sites, volunteers, and taxpayers helped, but as shown in Table 2.6, program results have fluctuated. Compared to 2001, the free tax preparation program in 2005 had fewer volunteers, fewer sites, and assisted fewer taxpayers. Division staff are concerned about these trends because one purpose of the volunteer tax assistance programs is to draw lowerincome taxpayers away from some for-profit tax preparers who target this population because they are often eligible for refundable tax credits.¹⁸ With this in mind, the division's desire to expand volunteer tax preparation programs makes sense, but division staff could do more to articulate specific goals on where and how new sites can be facilitated. The division could also do more analysis related to the impact of these efforts, such as the proportion of tax returns with claims for refundable credits that are self-prepared, filed by paid preparers, and filed through volunteer programs.

The department provides logistical support for volunteer organizations that help lowerincome taxpayers prepare and file their returns for free.

Participation in volunteer tax preparation programs has been declining.

¹⁷ Senior citizens, disabled citizens, and individuals with income of \$25,000 or less (\$35,000 or less for families) are eligible for assistance. Most volunteer tax preparation sites are open from February 1 through April 15.

¹⁸ Many paid preparers offer high-cost "refund anticipation loans" at interest rates that significantly reduce the amount of refund going to the taxpayer. As a matter of tax policy, the department would prefer to see the entire refund going to the taxpayer, without a portion going to preparer fees or costs for refund anticipation loans.

Table 2.6: Results of Tax Preparation AssistancePrograms, 2001-05

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005
Assistance Sites Volunteers Taxpayers Assisted	331 1,719 101,313	292 1,222 84,869	312 1,641 115,372	325 1,500 ^a 84,066	310 1,500 ^a 86,961
Returns Filed Federal State	35,817 <u>56,001</u>	39,388 <u>60,983</u>	41,201 <u>63,962</u>	41,604 <u>62,793</u>	40,373 <u>71,856</u>
Total	91,818	100,371	105,163	104,397	112,229

NOTE: Returns prepared in the calendar year shown are for income from the prior year. For example, tax return assistance in 2005 was for 2004 tax returns.

^a Department of Revenue estimates.

SOURCE: Department of Revenue volunteer tax assistance program data.

Paid Preparer Education

Providing formal training and information for paid tax preparers is another of the division's education objectives. As noted earlier, over half of the income tax returns filed are completed by paid tax preparers, so the division has a strong interest in contributing to their training.¹⁹ With one staff person coordinating preparer training, the division publishes an annual newsletter to preparers before the start of each filing season. It also issues electronic newsletters several times a year to tax-preparer professional organizations, which then forward the newsletter to their members. In addition, the Income Tax Division coordinates classroom training for preparers who choose to participate.

According to the division, these organized training events and resources are probably not reaching the paid preparers that the department is most concerned about—those that have questionable expertise, charge high fees to lower-income taxpayers who receive tax refunds, or instigate fraud schemes. The impact of "problem" preparers is magnified because one preparer can complete thousands of returns. Many paid tax preparers are affiliated with professional organizations of attorneys, accountants, and IRS-enrolled agents, which provide training and support for their members.

Department officials said, and we agree, that tools other than training and education are needed to deal with problem preparers who are more likely to be unaffiliated with a professional organization and who are less likely to avail themselves of Department of Revenue training. The department can issue negligence penalties on preparers, but it has few other enforcement tools. Minnesota does not license paid preparers. In the 2005 legislative session, the department supported a bill that would allow it to publicize the names of paid

Over half of the income returns filed each year are completed by paid tax preparers.

The department offers preparer training, but has few other tools to deal with problem preparers.

¹⁹ Paid preparers are supposed to sign the returns they prepare, along with the taxpayer. The Department of Revenue is able to track the number of income tax returns that have a signature on the preparer line, but not all preparers follow the signature rule.

preparers convicted of tax crimes or issued civil penalties. The law that passed included publishing a list of tax preparers convicted of crimes but not those issued administrative penalties.²⁰ The department currently publishes a list of businesses that are delinquent in paying taxes due. Department officials believe that a similar list of penalized preparers would help educate taxpayers who are considering hiring a paid preparer.

Community Outreach

The division's third education priority is outreach to non-English speakers. In January 2000, the division initiated a community outreach program. The program's goal is to help people who may have cultural or language barriers that make it harder for them to understand the tax system and to comply with tax laws. Division managers decided to invest in community outreach in response to (1) demographic trends showing that Minnesota is becoming more diverse and (2) specific tax fraud schemes to which certain communities have been susceptible. Initially, the program focused on the Vietnamese, Hmong, and Latino communities but has since expanded to include Laotian, Cambodian, Somali, and Native American communities.

Division staff said that their primary strategy is to partner with existing community organizations and programs to disseminate information in native languages and to develop free tax preparation sites. Although the division is trying to broaden its impact by working with existing community networks, the four outreach staff, all of whom are bilingual, report spending a great deal of time responding to individual inquires from taxpayers who have limited English proficiency. As we discuss in more detail below, the outreach staff appear to be filling a gap in non-English speakers' access to telephone assistance. However, outreach staff are working in the field at least half the time and cannot always provide prompt assistance when taxpayers need it.

As with the other education strategies, the division could not articulate specific performance measures for outreach activities. The income tax compliance plan states that the division's goal is to "grow and support" outreach activities. Expanded outreach activities may be warranted, but they would benefit from a clear understanding of purpose, more detailed plans to achieve goals, and better articulated statements of expected outcomes linked to improved compliance. According to division managers, most of their evaluation of outreach programs is anecdotal, but they believe outreach activities are reaching taxpayers not otherwise served by department resources.

Education Letters

While we discussed the Income Tax Division's education letter project as a way to increase audit presence, it is also a good example of targeting education efforts at specific compliance problems. As discussed, the division sent about 16,000 education letters to taxpayers in December 2005. Each contained detailed compliance instructions regarding the issue that was the subject of the letter.

The department initiated an outreach program in 2000, but it needs to refine its goals for the program.

The department is experimenting with education letters targeting specific compliance problems.

²⁰ Laws of Minnesota 2005, chapter 151, art. 9, sec. 10. House File 1234 includes the provision as introduced in 2005.

While the taxpayers were encouraged to amend previous returns if they determined that they had made an error, the bigger impact of these letters may be on future filing compliance. The department will need to collect and analyze data from recipients' amended or future tax returns in order to evaluate the letters' impact.

Responding to Taxpayer Inquiries

Taxpayer education is aimed at broad groups of taxpayers, but responding to individual taxpayers who have questions is another important aspect of taxpayer assistance. As discussed in Chapter 1, the Department of Revenue as a whole has shifted to a self-service model of assistance by expanding the information available on the Department of Revenue website and providing automated self-service options. Still, some taxpayers want or need to speak with a department employee about their tax situations, filing procedures, or enforcement actions, such as audits, in which they might be involved. The department eliminated formal walk-in assistance at its regional offices and the St. Paul headquarters in 2004 as a budget-saving measure, which increased the importance of telephone assistance for taxpayers who want to speak directly with a department employee.²¹ At the same time, the department also terminated its toll-free telephone assistance numbers, leaving taxpayers from outside the Twin Cities metropolitan area to pay the cost themselves.

In the Income Tax Division, taxpayers ask most questions by calling one of the division's telephone assistance numbers, but many send e-mail, as shown in Table 2.7. Since 2001, the number of calls has declined by over one-third, while the number of e-mails has more than doubled. But overall, the division has seen about a 35 percent drop in demand for assistance.

Table 2.7: Taxpayer Inquiries by Telephone and Correspondence,2001-05

	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005 ^a	Percentage Change 2001-05
Telephone Calls	1,112,930	1,034,394	666,334	652,704	717,275	-36%
Correspondence Paper E-Mail Subtotal	1,653 <u>4,335</u> 5,988	1,984 <u>16,617</u> 18,601	1,495 <u>12,828</u> 14,323	1,354 <u>10,400</u> 11,754	880 <u>12,164</u> 13,044	-47 181 118
Total Contacts	1,118,918	1,052,995	680,657	664,458	730,319	-35%

^a As of December 9, 2005.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue taxpayer assistance data.

Most often, taxpayers with questions call the department's assistance line, but use of e-mail is increasing.

²¹ Department of Revenue staff will provide walk-in assistance upon request, but the department no longer promotes or staffs it as a formal taxpayer service option.

In 2005, the division had 12 full-time employees responding to taxpayer inquiries. In January 2006, the division hired additional permanent and temporary staff, bringing staffing to 21 permanent, full-time taxpayer assistance representatives and 5 temporary employees to help during the income tax filing season. We evaluated the division's taxpayer assistance services along two general dimensions—access to services and quality (primarily accuracy) of assistance provided. In addition, we discussed with department staff the extent to which help is available to taxpayers with limited English proficiency.

Access to Taxpayer Assistance

Regarding access to Department of Revenue telephone assistance representatives, we found that:

• The Income Tax Division does not have enough staff available to answer calls from taxpayers during the filing seasons for the income tax and property tax refunds.

The income tax assistance telephone system has several components.²² The Department of Revenue publishes several phone numbers for income taxpayers to use. One is described as an "automated service" number that takes callers through a menu-driven list of self-service options, such as getting automated refund status information, ordering forms, or notifying the department of a change of address. A second phone number is publicized as being for account resolution questions, technical tax questions, and other general inquiries; like the automated service number, callers make menu choices about the type of question they have. For both of these incoming phone lines, there are various points at which callers can choose to have their calls directed to a representative. The third income tax phone number is given to taxpayers who have received a nonfiler audit notice, and these calls are routed directly to a representative who answers questions about nonfiler audits. All of the incoming calls from these three phone numbers get routed through the same computerized telephone system. The Department of Revenue's goal for calls routed to income tax representatives is to answer 70 percent of calls within two minutes.

Calls being routed to an income tax representative are placed in one of four queues related to the type of call, and depending on demand, some number of representatives will be assigned to take calls for each queue. The four call-type categories are: (1) refund status, (2) nonfiler audits, (3) account resolution, and (4) technical tax. Each call queue has a certain number of callers who can be on hold at any give time. If for a given queue, the hold positions are full and all of the queue's representatives are busy, then the caller gets a message saying the system is full (essentially, a busy signal).

In 2005, about 243,000 calls were directed to the Income Tax Division's telephone assistance representatives, as shown in Table 2.8. However, about 57,000 calls, or 24 percent, could not get through because available

On average, the department answered 60 percent of incoming calls for income tax assistance in 2005.

²² This telephone system, used across the department, was new as of December 2003. According to the Income Tax Division lead worker who works with the system, the department started getting reliable tracking data from the system in February 2004.

representatives were busy with other calls and the hold queues were full.²³ Another 38,000 callers hung up while waiting on hold. For the year, about 60 percent of calls routed to a representative were answered.

Table 2.8: Access to Income Tax TelephoneAssistance Representatives, 2004-05

	2004	2005
Incoming Calls	210,126	243,238
Unable to Be Routed Because System is Busy	40,358	57,087
Abandoned by Caller While on Hold	26,446	38,476
Answered by a Representative	143,129	146,361
Percentage of Calls Answered	68.1%	60.2%

NOTE: Subgroup totals may not add to the reported number of incoming calls because of telephone system errors when counting calls.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue taxpayer assistance telephone system data.

Annual statistics, however, mask two major peaks in taxpayer assistance workloads—those surrounding the individual income tax filing season from January to April and the property tax refund filing season in August. As illustrated in Figure 2.1, during these filing seasons, demand outstrips available

Figure 2.1: Access to Income Tax Telephone Assistance Representatives by Month, 2005



SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue telephone system data.

²³ The number of calls does not necessarily equate with the number of callers. It is quite possible that frustrated callers exacerbate overflow problems by hanging up and dialing again.

Meeting the demand for assistance at the property tax filing deadline in August 2005 was a particular problem.

TAX COMPLIANCE

Dorcontago

staff, resulting in more calls unable to be routed, longer hold times, and more callers hanging up while waiting. During the property tax refund season in August 2005, there was an unusually high spike in demand, and assistors answered less than 30 percent of incoming calls; over half of incoming calls were not routed at all because the system was busy. The data for August had a major impact on the statistics for the entire year. During the months of February through April 2005—the period of peak demand for the income tax filing season—representatives answered between 64 and 70 percent of calls.

During the income tax filing season, callers with technical tax questions have a particularly difficult time getting through to a representative. As discussed above, when callers indicate through a menu option that they have a technical tax question (for example, about their filing status or eligibility for a tax credit), the calls are routed to one call queue. As shown in Table 2.9, representatives answered about 58 percent of calls on the technical tax line in 2005.²⁴ Data for March 2005, the filing season's busiest month, show that about 53 percent of calls routed to the technical tax queue were answered by a representative. Some of the callers who could not get through at all or who hung up while on hold may have called back. But, the callers who are of the greatest concern are those who did not call back and were left with an unanswered question about an issue that may have affected their tax liability.

Table 2.9: Access to Income Tax TelephoneAssistance Representatives by Type of Call, 2005

Type of Call	Incoming Calls	Calls Answered	of Calls Answered
Taxpayer Accounts	88,872	58,406	65.7%
Tax Compliance and Filing	76,354	44,343	58.1
Refund Status	65,904	32,459	49.3
Nonfiler Audit	12,108	11,153	92.1
Total	243,238	146,361	60.2%

NOTE: Data are as of December 9, 2005.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue taxpayer assistance telephone system data.

To manage demand for telephone assistance, we found that:

• The department has had limited success diverting callers to automated service options.

Inquiries regarding refund status are a drain on telephone assistance resources, and the department's efforts to redirect callers to automated means of checking their refund status have not been as effective as hoped. In 2005, about 25 percent

The department should place a higher priority on providing prompt assistance for callers with technical tax questions.

²⁴ Access to the refund call queue was even lower, but these callers are a lower risk to the department because they have less impact on taxpayer compliance.

INCOME TAX

The department has had limited success diverting callers to automated sources of refundstatus information. of calls routed to representatives were refund inquiries—information that taxpayers can get on their own by using the department's automated "Where's My Refund?" service on the website and through the telephone assistance lines. The department already places a low priority on refund calls by assigning fewer representatives to answer these calls and by reducing the number of hold positions in the call queue, as reflected in the 49 percent answer rate for calls on the refund line shown in Table 2.9.

If the department were able to redirect more of these callers to automated services for obtaining refund status information, representatives could devote more call time to those with technical tax questions or other questions that are a higher priority. Department managers have discussed removing the telephone system menu option that allows refund callers to choose to have their calls routed to a representative. However, taxpayer assistance staff said that these callers would be frustrated and would likely use other routes through the telephone menus to get to a representative, which would, in the end, make it more difficult to efficiently route and handle incoming calls of all types.

Because many taxpayers seem to prefer personal service to automated options, the department needs to maintain a mix of permanent and temporary staff sufficient to provide a reasonable level of service. We think that the 2005 level of performance—answering 60 percent of calls during the filing season (even lower on the technical tax line)—is inadequate. In January 2006, the Income Tax Division hired additional permanent and temporary taxpayer assistance representatives. It will be important to monitor the level of access that division can provide at this level of staffing.

Although most taxpayers call the department with questions, many submit their questions by e-mail. The department counts the number of incoming e-mails and letters, but we found that:

• The department does not track performance statistics related to written correspondence, so we could not determine whether taxpayers are receiving timely responses to their inquiries.

The division received over 12,000 e-mails and 800 letters in 2005, but it does not track the type of question asked or the response time. The division's goal is to answer e-mail within two days and letters within two weeks. Division staff said that they do not meet these turnaround times during times of peak demand, but absent data on response time, we could not determine the extent of any delays in responding to correspondence.

Quality of Assistance

Providing accurate answers to questions is another key element of taxpayer assistance. In this regard, we found that:

• The Income Tax Division's efforts to assess the quality of taxpayer assistance do not provide sufficient assurance that taxpayers are getting correct answers when they call or write with questions.

To its credit, the Income Tax Division has a process in place to assess the quality of assistance provided to taxpayers who call with questions. The telephone

The department has a process in place to assess the quality of its telephone assistance. system used since late 2003 allows calls to be taped for later review, and the division's protocol is to monitor six calls in a week, three times a year (18 calls per year) for each telephone assistance representative. The taxpayer assistance analyst who assesses call quality uses a check sheet of 20 performance elements related to customer service, accuracy of the information provided, and adherence to division procedures. The checklist, to which the analyst responds in a "yes/no/not applicable" format, includes such things as proper verification of the caller's identity, accuracy of the answer given, speaking clearly, and proper documentation of the call in the department's records. The performance expectation for representatives is an average score of 90 percent or better for all calls monitored in a year.

As shown in Table 2.10, the taxpayer assistance supervisor evaluated 304 calls in fiscal year 2005 and noted at least one error in 95, or 31 percent of calls monitored. Although the average call quality score was 93 percent, 5 of 22 telephone assistance staff did not meet the division's performance goal of an average quality score of 90 percent or better. In addition, for 6 of 10 permanent employees who were on staff for all of fiscal year 2005, the supervisor did not monitor 18 to 20 of their calls per year, as is required by division policy.²⁵

Table 2.10: Telephone Assistance Call Quality Reviews, Fiscal Year 2005

Type of Employee	Number of Employees	Calls Monitored	Calls with Quality Errors	Percentage of Calls with Errors	Average Review Score	Number of Employees with Average Score Below 90 Percent
Permanent ^a Temporary	16 6	247 <u>57</u>	84 11	34.0% 19.3	92.2% 95.8	4
All Employees	22	304	95	31.3%	92.9%	5

^a Included in "permanent staff" are six employees who worked for part of fiscal year 2005. Temporary staff work during the income tax filing season only.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue income tax assistance call monitoring data.

We reviewed the evaluation reports for the 95 calls with errors. As shown in Table 2.11, the most common were failure to properly document the call and failure to follow procedures for confirming the caller's identity. We noted during our review that many of the 20 quality elements on the checklist were marked as "not applicable." Among the 95 reports, at least 13 of the checklist items were not rated for 50 percent or more calls, including the item "assistance complete." As a result, the evaluations either individually or as a whole may not provide a complete picture of call quality.

The department found a problem in about one-third of the calls it monitored.

²⁵ The procedure for monitoring call quality changed during fiscal year 2005 from ten calls per week twice a year to six calls per week three times a year.

Number of Times Error Noted	Percentage of 304 Calls Monitored
45	14.8%
40	13.2
12	3.9
11	3.6
2	0.7
2	0.7
1	0.3
1	0.3
1	0.3
	Times Error Noted 45 40 12 11 2

Table 2.11: Errors Noted During TelephoneAssistance Call Quality Reviews, Fiscal Year 2005

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue income tax telephone assistance quality review documents.

Callers' technical tax questions provide an opportunity for telephone representatives to help taxpayers comply with tax laws; however, the distribution of calls by call type in our group of 95 did not align with the distribution of calls into the various telephone queues. Of the 95 quality reports we reviewed in detail, 18 percent involved callers with technical tax questions although about 30 percent of incoming calls are routed to the technical tax telephone assistance queue. About 40 percent of the quality reports we reviewed were for calls to obtain refund status information—those least risky in terms of tax compliance if the answers are not accurate.

With few exceptions, the division does not routinely review outgoing e-mail and letters for quality. According to the division, supervisors do not have a quality review process in place for correspondence. The officials said, however, that a supervisor will review an e-mail or letter if the division receives a complaint about an inaccurate answer, which they said happens occasionally. As we said earlier, providing access to assistance is not enough; the department should review enough correspondence to be reasonably assured that the answers provided are correct.

In spite of these concerns, results of a 2005 survey show that most income tax filers' are satisfied with department services, and their use of the department's website has increased since the last survey in 2003.²⁶ Overall, almost all survey respondents who said they had used a department service of any kind were satisfied or very satisfied with the professionalism of staff, the usefulness of information provided, and the accuracy of information received. However, to the extent that taxpayers are not aware that they may have received inaccurate information, their satisfaction ratings are less meaningful. The survey also

Too few of the calls monitored involved technical tax questions those that pose the highest risk to taxpayers if the answers provided are incorrect.

²⁶ The Research Edge, 2005 Minnesota Department of Revenue: Taxpayer Satisfaction with the Filing Process (St. Paul, 2005).

corroborates the department's view that there is potential for greater use of automated services. Compared to the 70 percent of respondents who were aware of the telephone assistance lines, only about half were aware of automated service options for getting refund status information. Among those aware of automated options, about 20 percent had actually used the telephone refund status line and 16 percent had used the web-based service.

Assistance for Taxpayers With Limited English Proficiency

As Minnesota has become home to a more diverse population, the Department of Revenue has taken steps to provide bilingual assistance. Most notable, the department's website has a number of publications available in translated form. However, we found that:

• Income tax telephone assistance is not well structured to help taxpayers with limited English proficiency.

The income tax telephone system menus are presented to callers only in English. The system contains no non-English referrals to other available resources, such as translated documents available on the website. The Department of Revenue has a contract for translation services during telephone calls. If a department employee receives a call from a taxpayer who does not speak English, the employee can call the contractor for translation assistance. But, according to the Department of Revenue's Taxpayer Rights Advocate, the service is rarely used, and employees said they were reluctant to use the service because of the associated cost. In response, the advocate allocated funds in 2005 from her department budget to cover the cost of the service and publicized this to department employees. The advocate reported, however, that during the 2005 income tax filing season, no employee requested translation assistance.

Taxpayer assistance staff report that they occasionally have difficulty answering calls because of language barriers; however, the taxpayer rights advocate and taxpayer assistance officials believe that taxpayers with limited English proficiency are probably not getting through to department representatives at all because navigating the telephone assistance system requires English language skills. These officials believe that language barriers are a growing problem, and the department will need to expand bilingual taxpayer services if it wants to support voluntary compliance among non-English speaking taxpayers. However, the department has not formally researched where the greatest needs are for bilingual services or the best means of delivering them.

In the past year, the department has increased efforts to provide translated income tax forms and publications, and the department has modified its website to make it easier to find these documents. But according to the taxpayer rights advocate, taxpayers with limited English proficiency are less likely to have Internet access, so putting documents on the website is not sufficient. This increases the importance of other means of obtaining assistance, namely telephone assistance, walk-in assistance, and access to hard-copy forms and publications. The division has taken some action by recently issuing a request for proposals for multi-lingual telephone menus. With multi-lingual services, the caller could choose a language option at the beginning of the call, and hear instructions thereafter in the chosen language.

For callers with limited English proficiency, the department's English-only telephone menus inhibit access to assistance.

The department is increasing the number of income tax forms and publications it translates into other languages. CONCLUSIONS

Department of Revenue has had little difficulty finding productive uses for its compliance initiative funding. However, the department has not made much progress in targeting audits at Minnesota's largest compliance problem—the underreporting of self-employment income. High turnover among its field auditors has hampered the department's ability to conduct audits of selfemployed taxpayers, and audits of self-employment income that have been completed have not effectively raised revenue. The department appears to be making more progress dealing with nonfilers—the second biggest portion of Minnesota's tax gap. It has stepped up its nonfiler audit program, resulting in increased assessments and the recovery of some back taxes owed by nonfilers. Now, the department needs to assess the impact of these audits on future filing behavior.

Income tax audit productivity has improved over the past seven years, and the

The department has shown a commitment to a balanced compliance program by investing in taxpayer education and assistance. But across all education and assistance programs, the department needs to better articulate the outcomes it wants to achieve and to measure the results. With better performance data in hand, we think the Income Tax Division will be better able to strategically allocate taxpayer assistance resources.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Enhance Audit Productivity

RECOMMENDATIONS

To improve audit productivity and address key contributors to the tax gap, the Department of Revenue should:

- Join the Internal Revenue Service's Fed-State tax return processing program;
- Expedite development of the data system that will handle federal audit reports submitted in electronic format;
- Expedite integration of data on drivers' licenses, motor vehicle registrations, and hunting and fishing licenses into the data warehouse; and
- Continue working to reduce employee turnover among income tax field auditors, including taking measures to make pay more competitive.

Joining the Fed-State program would take advantage of certain checks that the IRS can conduct more effectively during processing than the state. Although there are some barriers to joining this program, the potential benefits make it worthwhile.

The department has made productive use of increased compliance funding, but needs to fine-tune its efforts.

TAX COMPLIANCE

Improving audit productivity also depends on obtaining and using the best information available to identify potential noncompliance. As of January 2006, the department had completed a data system for electronic federal audit reports, and it had obtained data on drivers' licenses, motor vehicle registrations, and hunting and fishing licenses for its data warehouse. However, we retained recommendations related to these efforts because neither system had been fully tested or integrated into routine compliance work.

Reducing turnover would not only enable the Income Tax Division to conduct more complex audits, it would save staff training time and allow the division to assign more audits based on their potential for improving compliance rather than training potential. The Department of Revenue has worked with the Minnesota Department of Employee Relations to improve entry-level pay for tax auditors. This helped to reduce employee turnover during the employees' first year, but turnover has remained high in the second and third year. Additional pay will be necessary to make the department more competitive with the private sector.

RECOMMENDATION

To further improve audit productivity, the Legislature should require employers to submit state withholding data in a common electronic format.

Beginning with a 1993 financial audit report, our office has recommended that the department improve its procedures for verifying the accuracy of the withholding data it receives from employers and individuals.²⁷ The department has improved how it verifies wage information by making use of data from the IRS and from the Minnesota Department of Employment and Economic Security; however, neither of these data sources includes the amount of state income tax withheld. Hence, to verify state tax withholding, the department needs to rely on withholding data that employers submit directly to the state. The department would be better able to identify noncompliance if these data were submitted in a common, electronic format.

The department has discussed this option internally, although it does not have a cost estimate for the information systems investment that would be required. Some businesses that currently submit wage reports in paper form may also incur additional costs to format and transmit these data electronically. However, most Minnesota businesses already electronically transmit information to the state through a common system. For example, all businesses that make taxable sales are required to electronically file sales and use tax returns through the department's e-File Minnesota system. In addition, as of July 2005, all Minnesota employers are required to electronically file their wage reports for the unemployment insurance program. The Minnesota Department of Employment and Economic Development offers two electronic filing options: an internet-based filing system and an option to file using a touch tone telephone.

²⁷ Minnesota Office of the Legislative Auditor, *Department of Revenue Financial Audit for the Year Ended June 30, 1992* (St. Paul, 2003), 3. Unresolved concerns are discussed in later financial audits for fiscal years 1993-98.

Improve Evaluation of Audit Projects

RECOMMENDATION

To better target audit resources, the Department of Revenue should improve its evaluation of income tax audit projects, including measuring their impact on voluntary compliance.

Evaluating and revising audit projects would help ensure that the department has a productive mix of audit projects. The nature of tax noncompliance may change from year to year. Monitoring the effectiveness of audit projects will help the department adjust its audit strategy to changes in noncompliance.

Including measures of how audits affect voluntary compliance would make project monitoring more useful. The Income Tax Division could track whether taxpayers who did not comply in the past have become more compliant in succeeding years. For example, it could monitor people who were assessed taxes for not filing to see whether they appropriately file. This would help the department determine whether additional action is required to bring these persons into compliance.

Improve Education Services

RECOMMENDATIONS

To bring more focus to education services and to help reduce the income tax gap, the Department of Revenue should create a performance plan that lays out specific objectives for taxpayer education and outreach, steps to meet those objectives, and measures for assessing progress.

To help taxpayers make educated decisions when choosing a tax preparer, the Legislature should amend state law to require the Department of Revenue to publish the names of tax preparers that have received certain civil penalties.

The Income Tax Division divides its resources among many education and outreach activities. While these activities, generally speaking, are logical in focus, division staff had little evidence to justify the resources devoted to one particular effort over another. It may make sense to expand or modify education programs, but as it does so, the division needs to do a better job evaluating whether these services are achieving expected outcomes.

In 2005, the legislature authorized the department to publish the names of tax preparers convicted of tax-related crimes.²⁸ To further assist the department in its

²⁸ Laws of Minnesota 2005, chapter 151, art. 9, sec. 10. The provision applies to tax preparers convicted of a crime under Minnesota Statutes, chapter 289A.63.

efforts to educate taxpayers, we think the department should also publish the names of tax preparers that have been assessed certain civil penalties. The original bill authorizing the list of problem preparers included those who have been issued civil penalties, but the provision was removed in a conference committee.²⁹ The dropped provision that we think the Legislature should reinstate required public disclosure of preparers penalized for violating state law regarding (1) standards of conduct, (2) disclosure of the terms of refund anticipation loans, and (3) itemized billing of clients.³⁰

Increase Access to Telephone Assistance

RECOMMENDATIONS

To improve access to telephone assistance during periods of high demand, the Department of Revenue should:

- Establish reasonable service goals for the percentage of calls answered and use staffing, scheduling options, and call routing techniques to meet these goals;
- To the extent possible, modify the automated telephone system to more strongly encourage callers to use the automated refund status options; and
- Alter the call routing protocols as needed to place a high priority on technical tax calls.

Taxpayers who are trying to file an accurate return should have a reasonable chance of getting through to an income tax representative when they have questions. In 2005, many callers did not. We recognize, though, that determining the correct number of staff can be tricky when demand varies by day of the week and month. The department faces an added degree of difficulty from taxpayers who prefer to speak with a representative even when automated options are available. Since the new, more sophisticated telephone routing system was implemented in 2003, the Income Tax Division has been experimenting with call routing rules and staffing levels to achieve better levels of service, but we think further modifications are warranted, especially to improve access to representatives for taxpayers with technical tax questions.

²⁹ The provision was introduced in House File 1234 in February 2005. The language approved by the House and Senate was included in House File 2228, art. 9.

³⁰These provisions are in *Minnesota Statutes* 2005, 270.30, subd. 3-5. *Minnesota Statutes* 2005, 270.30, subd. 6, authorizes the Department of Revenue to issue penalties of up to \$1,000 per violation and to terminate a tax preparer's right to file electronic returns with the state.

Improve Service to Non-English Speakers

RECOMMENDATIONS

To better aid compliance among taxpayers with limited English proficiency, the Department of Revenue should:

- Assess the demand for more education materials and telephone assistance services in other languages; and
- As warranted, translate more written materials and add automated phone menus in other languages.

Given trends in state demographics and state government's interest in ensuring that all taxpayers pay the correct amount of tax, we agree with department officials who believe that the department should do more to assist taxpayers with limited English proficiency. It would be prudent, however, to invest in some research to determine where taxpayers would most benefit before investing in additional bilingual publications and services.

Better Assess the Quality of Assistance

RECOMMENDATIONS

To better assess the quality of assistance provided, the Department of Revenue should:

- Improve the checklist used for assessing telephone calls and monitor more calls involving technical tax questions; and
- Develop performance goals and measures for responses to taxpayers' written inquiries and evaluate the accuracy of these responses.

It is to the division's credit that the taxpayer assistance group has used technology available in the new phone system (the ability to tape calls for later review) to initiate a meaningful process for evaluating the quality of telephone assistance. To make the evaluations more useful, however, we think the division should monitor more of the calls where accuracy of answers has direct implications for tax compliance—those regarding payments taxpayers are required to make and technical tax questions relating to tax law and filing requirements. In addition, the assessment checklist should contain those items that the division thinks are most important, and to the fullest extent possible, each monitored call should be rated using all checklist items.

To date, the division has done little to assess the quality of responses provided by e-mail and letter. The accuracy of these responses is as important as those provided by telephone, and the division's quality assessment policy should be modified to include evaluation of a sample of correspondence. The department should use this data, as it does for the results of telephone quality assistance reviews, to evaluate individual and group performance.

Sales and Use Tax

SUMMARY

Taxpayers underreport their sales and use tax liabilities by an estimated \$450 million annually. As with the income tax, the Department of Revenue takes a multi-pronged approach to sales and use tax compliance. With additional compliance funding, the department increased the number of sales tax audits completed, and overall, the revenue raised from these audits has risen to over \$5 per dollar invested. However, some types of audits have been much less productive than average, and the department continues to have trouble containing use tax noncompliance. To improve audit productivity, the department needs to improve the database it uses to *identify businesses likely to be noncompliant, reallocate audit resources* away from poorly performing audit projects, and adopt the practices of regional offices that have demonstrated productive audit selection techniques. To help businesses comply voluntarily, the department relies primarily on posting informational materials on its website, and it offers a limited array of taxpayer training classes. Access to telephone assistance is a problem, particularly near filing deadlines. For those callers that do get through, the department does not monitor staff responses for accuracy or quality of service.

Minnesota's sales and use tax revenues totaled \$4.8 billion in fiscal year 2005, making it the second largest source of state tax revenue behind the income tax. About 264,000 businesses operating in Minnesota are required to collect sales taxes on most retail sales and some services. The use tax applies to taxable items bought out of state for use in Minnesota (such as items purchased over the Internet or from a catalog) or bought from a seller that did not collect Minnesota sales tax. The sales and use tax gap is substantial, with taxpayers understating their tax liabilities by an estimated \$451 million annually.

Responsibility for administering the sales and use tax rests within the Department of Revenue's Corporate and Sales Tax Division, which also administers the corporate franchise tax. In this chapter, we address the following questions:

- Does the Department of Revenue have an effective program to identify and audit taxpayers who may have underpaid sales and use tax?
- Does the Department of Revenue have effective education and assistance services to help taxpayers understand and meet their sales and use tax obligations?

To answer these questions, we interviewed Department of Revenue officials and reviewed department policies, procedures, and other documents, including the business plan for the Sales and Use Tax Section. To assess the effectiveness of the department's audit programs, we analyzed case level data on completed audits for fiscal years 2002 through 2005. We also examined summary data on

About 264,000 businesses are registered to collect sales tax in Minnesota. audit results and expenditures from fiscal years 1998 through 2005. We did not assess the accuracy or completeness of the audits themselves. To evaluate taxpayer assistance efforts, we obtained and analyzed available department data on education programs and the frequency, type, and quality of assistance provided to taxpayers who call or write with questions.

AUDITING

In fiscal year 2005, the Corporate and Sales Tax Division conducted about 13,000 sales and use tax audits, as shown in Table 3.1.¹ Division staff spent most of their time on field audits, the most comprehensive type of audit, even though field audits represent just 27 percent of all audits completed. The division groups field audits into roughly 40 projects, generally targeting specific types of businesses or types of noncompliance.² Self reviews, which involve asking businesses to audit themselves regarding a particular issue, account for 31 percent of audits, but only 2 percent of auditors' time. Audits conducted from the auditor's office—reviews of refund claims, customs declarations, and nexus issues—make up 39 percent of audits, but just 11 percent of auditors' time.³

Table 3.1: Sales and Use Tax Audits Completed,Fiscal Year 2005

	Audit Hours		Audits C	ompleted
	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage
Field Audits				
General	104,488	80%	3,516	27%
Research and Development	7,004	5	230	2
Special Enforcement	1,784	1	67	1
Nexus Audits	6,271	5	984	8
Refund Claim Audits	5,990	5	2,646	20
Self Review Audits	2,167	2	4,040	31
Office Audits	1,889	1	1,468	11
Managed Audits	1,657	<u> </u>	70	<u> </u>
Total	131,248	100%	13,022	100%

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue sales and use tax audit data.

To evaluate how well department audit activities improve compliance with sales and use tax laws, we focused on the same five criteria used to evaluate income tax audits: (1) measuring the tax gap, (2) establishing audit presence, (3) identifying noncompliant taxpayers, (4) audit productivity, and (5) monitoring audit effectiveness.

The department conducted about 13,000 sales and use tax audits in 2005.

Field audits

department's

audit hours.

of the

account for most

¹ See Table 1.5 in Chapter 1 for a description of sales and use tax audit types.

² Selection criteria for many audit projects are not public, so we do not describe project details in this report.

³ Businesses pay sales tax on capital equipment used in manufacturing, farming, and mining at the time of purchase, but they may later apply to the Department of Revenue for a refund of the sales tax paid. The purpose of nexus audits is to determine whether a multi-state business has a physical presence in Minnesota and should collect sales tax on Minnesota transactions.

Measuring the Tax Gap

Knowing the size and nature of the sales and use tax gap—the sales and use tax owed but not voluntarily reported—helps the Department of Revenue determine the level of resources that should be devoted to compliance efforts and where to focus those resources. After examining the department's method for estimating the tax gap, we found that:

• The department uses appropriate methods and data to measure the tax gap for the sales and use tax.

In 2002, the department estimated that the sales and use tax gap for tax year 2000 was about \$451 million, as shown in Table 3.2.⁴ About 60 percent of the \$451 million tax gap was due to unreported use tax. In fact, use tax compliance was much lower than sales tax compliance. In 2000, taxpayers paid only 53 percent of the use tax owed, compared with 95 percent of the sales tax owed. The fastest growing portion of the tax gap is for e-commerce, primarily use tax on Internet sales. The tax gap study estimated that the e-commerce tax gap would grow from \$67 million in 2000 to \$269 million by 2007. The department plans to conduct another sales tax gap study in 2006. This will allow it to track its progress toward containing sales and use tax noncompliance.

Table 3.2: Sales and Use Tax Gap Estimates, 2000

	Taxes Owed	Taxes Paid	Tax Gap	Compliance
	(in millions)	(in millions)	(in millions)	Rate
Sales Tax	\$3,685	\$3,505	\$180	95%
Use Tax	<u>577</u>	<u>305</u>	272	53
Total	\$4,261	\$3,810	\$451	89%

NOTE: Amounts may not sum to totals due to rounding.

SOURCES: American Economics Group, Inc., *Minnesota Sales and Use Tax Gap Project: Final Report* (St. Paul: Minnesota Department of Revenue, 2002); and Department of Revenue data on sales and use taxes paid.

Businesses are responsible for all of the sales tax gap and nearly three-fourths of the use tax gap. The sales tax gap involves both businesses that do not charge the sales tax when they should and businesses that collect the tax but fail to remit it to the state. According to the study, the use tax gap included about \$197 million for business purchases in 2000 and about \$75 million for household purchases.

Unreported use tax accounts for the largest share of the tax gap.

⁴ American Economics Group, Inc., *Minnesota Sales and Use Tax Gap Project: Final Report* (St. Paul: Minnesota Department of Revenue, 2002).

Establishing Audit Presence

Audit presence, or the extent to which taxpayers believe that they might be audited, is an important factor in improving voluntary compliance, especially in areas with high noncompliance. The purpose of establishing audit presence is not just to make short-term revenue gains, but also to create a credible threat of audit that encourages taxpayers to voluntarily comply. The Department of Revenue establishes audit presence with a variety of audits, ranging from auditors reviewing refund requests in their offices to thoroughly examining taxpayer records in the businesses' offices. In this section, we analyze the adequacy of audit presence for the sales and use tax and examine another approach for improving voluntary compliance.

After reviewing the results of the department's sales and use tax audit program, we found that:

• The department targets audits at industries with high noncompliance rates, but weaknesses in audit presence for the sales and use tax may undermine voluntary compliance.

As shown in Table 3.3, during fiscal years 2004-05, the department targeted its audits at the three industry categories with the lowest compliance rates— construction, manufacturing and wholesale trade, and services. The construction industry had the lowest compliance rate, paying about 79 percent of the sales and use taxes owed, compared with an average compliance rate of 91 percent. The three industries with the lowest compliance rates comprise 39 percent of the state's sales tax base, but the department spent 68 percent of its audit hours on these industries. In contrast, the department devoted a disproportionately small amount of resources on retail businesses, which had an above-average compliance rate (94 percent).

Table 3.3: Sales and Use Tax Audit Hours Compared with Compliance Rate and Sales Tax Base by Industry

Industry	Compliance Rate	Share of Tax Base	Share of Audit Hours
Construction	78.5%	1.7%	9.6%
Manufacturing and Wholesale Trade	86.4	19.3	27.0
Services	87.4	18.3	30.9
Agriculture	87.6	0.7	0.7
Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate	87.8	1.6	13.5
Mining	93.3	0.6	0.9
Retail	93.6	47.6	13.8
Transportation and Utilities	96.5	10.3	3.6
All Industries	91.0%	100.0%	100.0%

NOTE: The compliance rates and share of tax base figures are for tax year 2000. The share of audit hours figures are averages for fiscal years 2004 and 2005.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue data.

The department targets audits at industries with the lowest compliance rates.

SALES AND USE TAX

The department does little to enforce the use tax among individual households.

The department audits a small percentage of businesses each year. The department's audits address noncompliance by businesses for both the sales and use taxes. In fact, the department made more assessments for the use tax than the sales tax, consistent with the fact that the majority of the tax gap is unpaid use tax. In fiscal year 2005, use tax assessments totaled \$61 million compared with \$33 million in assessments for the sales tax.⁵

Even though the department targets its audits at industries with compliance problems, there are weaknesses in its audit presence. First, the department does little to enforce use tax payments by individual households. As mentioned earlier, the sales and use tax gap study estimated that households were responsible for about \$75 million of the tax gap in 2000 and projected that it would rapidly grow. Department staff said that it is not cost effective to enforce use tax payments by households. Most household transactions subject to the use tax are small, and there is no comprehensive third-party source of sales transactions that the department can use to identify use tax liabilities.

Second, the department audits a small percentage of businesses. Minnesota relies primarily on field audits to establish audit presence among Minnesota businesses. According to the assistant director of the Corporate and Sales Tax Division, the number of field auditors is small relative to the number of businesses in the state. In fiscal year 2005, the department conducted field audits of about 4,000 businesses, or about 1.5 percent of the 264,000 businesses registered to collect sales tax in Minnesota. Typically, field audits cover returns for the past three years, which increases the chance that a sales and use tax return will eventually be audited. Unlike the income tax, the federal government does not audit sales and use tax returns. So, the federal government does not supplement the department's audit coverage in Minnesota. However, through the multi-state tax commission, the division does participate in joint, multi-state audits of large national companies that are located in many states.

The division's reliance on time-intensive field audits means that the division can do fewer audits, thus reducing overall audit presence among businesses. Although office audits are less time consuming than field audits, auditors have a hard time identifying instances of noncompliance that might be suitable for office audits. Currently, office audits are limited to three narrowly focused issues—customs declarations, refunds for capital equipment purchases, and nexus determinations. As discussed in the next section on identifying noncompliant businesses, the department does not have a practical way to verify sales reports for all Minnesota businesses. So, compared with income tax auditing, computer data matching is a less viable means to identify issues suitable for office audits.

Results from the department's research and development audits provide evidence that the audit presence is not expansive enough to have much of an impact on voluntary compliance, especially for the use tax. Through its research and development audit program, the division audits a random sample of businesses in selected industries to determine the extent and nature of noncompliance in that industry. For seven of these industries, the department conducted follow-up audits about five years after the initial audits. Overall, use tax compliance did

⁵ Assessment amounts do not reflect changes in favor of the taxpayer or penalties and interest. In fiscal year 2005, the department also denied \$19 million in claims for sales tax refunds.

TAX COMPLIANCE

not significantly improve for the seven industries. It continued to be low for most of the industries examined, averaging only about 38 percent during the follow-up phase. Out of six industries with comparable data, the overall use tax compliance improved for three industries, remained the same for one industry, and declined for two industries.

Although these audits apparently did not have much of an effect on industrywide compliance, there is evidence that the specific businesses audited during the first phase improved their compliance during the follow-up period. For each of the seven industries covered by the follow-up audits, some of the businesses were also audited in the initial phase. On average, use tax compliance improved by 25 percentage points among all of the businesses that were audited twice. For example, among the 14 engineering and architectural firms that were audited twice, the use tax compliance rate increased from 9 percent to 62 percent. The results for sales tax compliance were less clear. Many of the businesses audited twice were already in full compliance during the period covered by the first audit. Overall, sales tax compliance rates improved for three industries, declined for one industry, and remained at 100 percent for three industries.

Several factors may have influenced businesses to change their compliance behavior. Some businesses may not have fully understood what transactions are subject to the use tax. It is possible that the audit process educated these businesses on their tax obligations, and businesses subsequently changed their behavior. Alternatively, the threat of future audits may have induced them to more fully report their tax obligations. In either case, the audits appear to have contributed to a change in behavior by the businesses that were audited.

As an alternative to enforcing use tax compliance, the department is trying to get more multi-state businesses to collect sales tax for transactions now covered by the use tax. Because of a Supreme Court decision, a state cannot require businesses that do not have a physical presence in the state to collect sales taxes on its behalf. The court decision was made in part because of the burden on businesses to comply with widely-divergent state sales tax laws. Instead, states have had to rely on the households and businesses that make these out-of-state purchases to voluntarily pay use tax. In response to the rapidly growing tax gap on these remote sales, Minnesota and many other states joined the Streamlined Sales Tax Project to have multi-state businesses collect and distribute sales taxes based on the purchaser's state of residence. In assessing the project's potential, we found that:

• Minnesota's participation in the national "Streamlined Sales Tax Project" could address a significant portion of the use tax gap, but its success depends on changes in federal law or voluntary cooperation by large businesses.

If successful, the project could substantially reduce the tax gap because having businesses collect the sales tax on behalf of the state would replace the lowcompliance use tax with the much higher-compliance sales tax. The project is designed to "streamline" the sales tax by making state sales tax laws consistent with a national model, thereby reducing the burden for multi-state businesses to collect sales taxes on behalf of states. Currently, Minnesota is one of approximately 21 states that meet all or almost all of the features of the national model adopted by the multi-state group. In spite of this progress, states still

The department's audits appear to have had little impact on use tax compliance.

The department is pursuing an alternate means of addressing noncompliance with the use tax.

SALES AND USE TAX

cannot legally compel out-of-state businesses to collect sales tax for their residents' purchases unless they have a physical presence in the state. States are hoping that the streamlined tax laws will encourage Congress to enact legislation to require out-of-state sellers to collect sales tax for states participating in the project.

Until the federal law change occurs, states are trying to induce businesses to voluntarily participate. One means of doing so is the Streamlined Sales Tax Amnesty Program, under which states offer sales tax amnesty to businesses that are not registered to collect sales tax in their state. Unregistered businesses that register and agree to collect and remit taxes for participating states will not be audited for sales prior to the registration date. Minnesota's sales tax amnesty program began on October 1, 2005.

Identifying Noncompliant Businesses

Because the department audits only a small percentage of businesses, it needs to have the data and tools necessary to target its audits at those businesses most likely to be noncompliant. However, we found that:

• The department lacks data and tools needed to systematically identify businesses that underreport sales and use taxes.

For the individual income tax, computerized data matching is the primary means of identifying noncompliance, but this technique is not as effective an option for finding sales and use tax noncompliance. There are no standard, third-party sources of business sales data that are comparable to the third-party wage or investment income data available under the income tax system. The lack of third-party sales information limits the department's ability to conduct automated data matching and initiate office or automated audits based on discrepancies discovered.

To compensate, the department uses a variety of techniques to identify businesses likely to have underreported their tax liabilities. For example, during an audit of one business, staff may discover transactions for which other businesses did not charge sales tax when they should have. Auditors also use leads from other states to help identify compliance problems with multi-state businesses. Other techniques include looking for businesses that report sales or use tax amounts outside of norms. To be efficient, this technique requires computerized data to efficiently identify businesses outside the norm.

In 2005, the department's data warehouse did not include some available information about Minnesota businesses that could help target sales and use tax audits. For example, the data warehouse did not have federal tax return data on corporations. These data could be used to compare sales figures reported on a business' tax return with sales reported on the federal income tax returns. Although these data are self-reported and therefore not as reliable as third-party information, the department believes that this information helps identify

Lack of thirdparty information on taxable sales makes it harder to identify noncompliant businesses. The department plans to upgrade its data warehouse to improve its ability to identify noncompliance.

Overall audit productivity is good, even without considering the impact of audits on voluntary compliance. noncompliance.⁶ The department obtains federal tax return data, but it does not integrate this information into its data warehouse. As a result, sales tax auditors have to look up these data one company at a time, reducing the number of businesses it can screen prior to selecting audits.

The department plans to improve how it identifies noncompliant businesses by upgrading its data warehouse to include data from federal tax returns and other sources. These changes would allow sales tax auditors to more efficiently screen businesses for audit potential. During the first phase of the data warehouse upgrade, which is scheduled to be complete in early 2006, the department will add Internal Revenue Service data from federal returns and incorporate audit production data into the warehouse. In future upgrades, the department plans to add state agency data on Minnesota businesses.

Audit Productivity

When selecting which businesses to audit, the department needs to consider whether its audits will yield additional revenue and whether they will improve voluntary compliance. In this section, we examine overall productivity in fiscal year 2005, analyze productivity by audit project, and assess how overall productivity changed after the Legislature increased the department's compliance funding. Our analysis of these three issues focuses on the amount of additional revenue raised by the audits. We do not include effects on voluntary compliance because, while important, we cannot quantify this effect for individual projects.

Overall Audit Productivity

We measured overall productivity in terms of assessments actually collected per dollar spent. Assessments include additional taxes, penalties, and interest as well as refunds denied as the result of an audit. Assessments are net of any overpayments made by the business that were found during the audit. Costs include the Corporate and Sales Tax Division's expenses attributable to sales and use tax audits, including payroll, equipment and supplies, computer support, and administrative overhead. It also includes estimated Collection Division expenses for collecting delinquent payments. In our analysis of overall productivity, we found that:

• Overall, sales and use tax audits are productive, raising about \$5.40 in revenue for every dollar spent in fiscal year 2005.

We estimated that audits completed in fiscal year 2005 will yield about \$72 million in additional revenue for the state, or about \$5.41 per dollar spent on sales and use tax audit and collection activities. These productivity measures likely understate the total effect of audits because they do not include revenue gains from improved voluntary compliance resulting from audits.

One factor that affects audit productivity is the percentage of assessments that are ultimately collected. As of September 30, 2005, the department had collected

⁶ Also, sales figures reported on an income tax return may not be the same as sales that are subject to the sales tax.

SALES AND USE TAX

about \$67 million out of the \$97 million in assessments made in sales and use tax audits that were completed in fiscal year 2005. Past collection trends suggest that it will probably collect another \$5 million within the next year, raising overall collections to about \$72 million, or 75 percent of the net assessments. The actual amount ultimately collected may be even higher because an unusually large amount of fiscal year 2005 assessments—about \$18 million—remained in the appeals process.

The department collects most of its sales and use tax assessments shortly after the audit closes. This reduces the cost to collect its assessments because a relatively small portion of assessments go to the Collection Division for action. In fiscal year 2005, the department collected about 61 percent of its sales and use tax assessments within 90 days. In contrast, only about 44 percent of income tax assessments were collected within 90 days.

Productivity of Audit Projects

While sales and use tax audits are productive overall, the average results mask variation among audit projects. Because of data limitations, we measured productivity for specific projects in a different way than for overall productivity. We used the amount assessed instead of the amount actually collected because the department does not track collections by project. And, we used hours spent on each audit project instead of actual expenses because the department does not track expenses by project. In our analysis of assessments per audit hour by project, we found that:

• Productivity of specific audit projects varies widely, suggesting that some audit resources may not be effectively targeted.

Based on two-year averages for fiscal years 2004-05, assessments per audit hour among the various audit types ranged from \$56 to \$2,196, as shown in Table 3.4.⁷ Auditors spent many hours on some sales tax projects with low productivity, raising questions about the level of resources devoted to these projects. For example, in fiscal years 2004 and 2005, the department spent a total of about 5,500 hours on self review projects, which had less than one-tenth the average productivity.⁸ In fact, during recent years, productivity of self-review projects has steadily declined, going from \$300 to \$43 per hour between fiscal years 2002 and 2005. While self review projects serve an education purpose, this project is a time-intensive way to educate businesses. Also, the Corporate and Sales Tax Division does little monitoring to determine how much the self reviews improve voluntary compliance in subsequent years.⁹ Division

However, some auditors spent many hours on audit projects with low revenue return.

⁷ During fiscal years 2004-05, managed audits had the lowest productivity, but this may be an anomaly because of one managed audit by a large company in fiscal year 2005. This managed audit found that the company had overpaid sales and use taxes by several million dollars, causing the overall return for managed audits to be negative for that year. In contrast, managed audits completed during fiscal year 2004 had an average return of \$543 per audit hour.

⁸ Unlike most audits, the department uses administrative support staff to work on self review projects.

⁹The Income Tax Division's education letters serve a similar purpose but take fewer resources. Also, the Income Tax Division monitors taxpayers to see if the education letters affect voluntary compliance.

TAX COMPLIANCE

staff said that it is difficult to monitor future compliance without conducting field audits. Sales tax returns do not have sufficient detail to monitor the specific sales and use tax provisions generally covered by self review projects.

Table 3.4: Productivity of Sales and Use Tax Auditsby Type of Audit, Fiscal Years 2004-05

	Assessments (in thousands)	Audit Hours	Assessments per Hour
Field Audits			
General	\$142,667	192,492	\$ 741
Special Enforcement	6,874	4,929	1,395
Research and Development	4,012	11,473	350
Refund Claim Audits	23,653	10,772	2,196
Nexus Audits	8,550	11,445	747
Office Audits	1,400	2,873	487
Self Review Audits	309	5,530	56
Managed Audits ^a	-3,061	3,495	-876
Type Unknown / Other	7	45	<u>150</u>
Two-Year Total	\$184,411	243,052	\$ 759

NOTE: Assessment and audit hour figures are two-year totals for audits completed during fiscal years 2004 and 2005. Assessments include denied refunds, additional taxes, penalties, and interest resulting from audits. They are net of tax changes found in audits that are in favor of the taxpayer.

^a Managed audits had negative assessments because of one managed audit that found the business overpaid its sales and use taxes by several million dollars.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue sales and use tax audit data.

During fiscal years 2004-05, auditors also devoted over 19,000 hours to one field audit project that had a return of \$237 per hour, less than one-third the average return.¹⁰ Department staff said that they frequently use these audits to train new staff. Our review of how productivity varies by staff experience suggests that training explains some but not all of the low productivity for this project. Experienced auditors conducted many of the audits for this project, and their audits also had low productivity.

Two types of projects had unusually high productivity, but devoting more resources to these projects would not necessarily produce higher returns. On average, the division's audits of sales tax refund claims are the most productive. However, expanding this type of audit may not be productive because the department already reviews all claims for audit potential and conducts office audits for the half with the most audit potential. Special enforcement field audits were also highly productive. According to department staff, expanding these projects would be difficult because they are complex audits that typically require auditors to indirectly estimate sales because the businesses lack sales records. Also, staff said that assessments from these audits have been hard to collect.

Refund claims and special enforcement audits were highly productive.

However, further expanding these audits may not yield much additional revenue.

¹⁰ Audit selection criteria are not public data. Because this is a narrowly focused audit project, describing it in more detail would disclose too much about the selection criteria.

SALES AND USE TAX

The department targeted audits at industries with low compliance rates, but audits of two of these targeted industries had productivity levels that were substantially below average. As shown in Table 3.3, the construction and service industries had the lowest and third-lowest compliance rates among eight industries examined by the tax gap study. But during fiscal years 2004-05, audits of these two industries generated below-average assessments per audit hour. Average productivity was \$424 and \$532 per hour for construction and service industry audits, respectively, compared with the overall average of \$759. There are a variety of reasons these audits may have low productivity, including their use as training audits. But the results raise questions about whether the department needs to improve how it selects businesses to audit in these industries or whether it needs to more effectively conduct these audits.

Productivity of audits also varies widely among regional offices. A variety of factors influence office productivity, including audit selection techniques. In fiscal years 2004-05, the division's seven regional offices in Minnesota spent about 55 percent of their audit hours on audit projects defined by the central office. For their remaining audit time, the regional offices have wide latitude in choosing businesses to audit. The productivity of these regionally selected audits varied considerably among the seven regional offices. During fiscal years 2004-05, average assessments per audit hour ranged from \$203 to \$927 among these offices. The office with highest productivity appears to place greater emphasis on getting to know the businesses in its region to identify likely cases of noncompliance. Its staff use a variety of sources to research businesses. including newspapers, the Internet, and business publications. While other offices do research to become familiar with businesses in their area, they tend to place greater emphasis on picking categories of businesses to audit. Other factors that affect office productivity include staff experience and stability. The office with the highest productivity also has the most experienced staff and has had low turnover. Another factor that may partially explain productivity differences is that businesses located in the Twin Cities metropolitan area are larger than businesses from other areas of the state. Since audits of larger businesses tend to be more productive than audits of smaller businesses, offices in the Twin Cites area could be expected to have above-average productivity.

Recent Trends in Audit Productivity

We also examined how productivity changed after the Legislature increased funding for compliance efforts in each of the past several years. As with the income tax, it is important to monitor sales tax audit productivity for signs of diminishing returns from added compliance funding. We found that:

• Investments in sales tax auditing have not yet reached the point of diminishing returns.

In fact, between fiscal years 2002 and 2005, sales and use tax audit productivity increased from about \$4.57 to \$5.41 in collections per dollar spent. While there may be diminishing returns on some audit projects, they are not large enough to offset the general increase in audit productivity since 2002. One reason for the increase in productivity may be that the department improved how it targeted its audits. In 2003, the Corporate and Sales Tax Division adopted the structured audit program, which targeted about half of the sales tax audits to eight project categories expected to have high audit potential.

Productivity of audits varies widely among regional offices.

TAX COMPLIANCE

Monitoring Audit Effectiveness

Project monitoring is important because it helps identify projects that are not effective. The department can either redirect resources to more effective audits or attempt to fix ineffective projects. In our review of project monitoring, we found that:

• The Department of Revenue has a good data system for tracking audit performance, though it has not effectively used the performance data in its audit planning decisions.

The department has an audit information system that, for each audit, tracks detailed assessment information, the office and employees who performed the audit, hours spent on the audit, and information on the business that was audited. The data allow managers to track key productivity measures, including number of audits completed, average assessments per audit, assessments per audit hour, and average time per audit. These performance measures can be summarized by audit type, audit project, and the office that conducted the audit.

Corporate and Sales Tax Division managers use performance data to help plan projects, but in fiscal year 2005 the division continued to allocate a large number of hours to audit projects that had low productivity in previous years. For example, among structured field audit projects, one project had the lowest average dollars assessed per audit hour for both fiscal years 2003 and 2004. Despite these results, the department devoted about 11,000 hours to this project in fiscal year 2005, making it the largest field audit project that year. Its performance in 2005 continued to be less than half of the average productivity for field audits. Division staff acknowledged that the division should reduce the number of hours devoted to these projects in future years.

The department does not usually determine sales and use tax compliance rates for businesses it audits, even though a major objective has been to target businesses with low compliance. The only audits for which it systematically calculates audit compliance rates are the research and development projects. Under these projects, division staff determine the compliance rates for a random sample of businesses and generalize to the entire industry with quantifiable precision. Division staff said that they do not determine compliance rates for other audits because other audits are not randomly chosen. Without random selection, the compliance rates cannot be generalized to a larger population of businesses. We believe that tracking compliance rates would still be useful. Although audited businesses in a particular industry may not be representative of the entire industry, they do represent the audit projects chosen by the department. Tracking compliance rates would reveal how well the department targeted its audits at businesses with low compliance.

TAXPAYER ASSISTANCE

Unlike the income tax division, which serves nearly 2.5 million taxpayers, sales and use tax administration focuses on about 264,000 businesses. Still, taxpayer assistance for the sales and use tax range from services for one-person home businesses that file returns once a year to those for sophisticated corporations with tax and finance units that complete and file monthly tax returns.

The department tracks a variety of audit performance measures.

The department needs to revise or cut back audit projects that are not producing adequate results.

Educating Taxpayers

Given limited resources, it is important for the division to determine which of its key compliance concerns should be addressed through improved written guidance, training classes, direct outreach to specific taxpayer groups, or a combination thereof. In evaluating education efforts for the sales and use tax, we found that:

• The Department of Revenue has effectively used its website to provide "self-service" education materials but offers a limited array of classroom training.

In keeping with the Department of Revenue's shift to a self-service model of taxpayer assistance, the department has revamped its sales and use tax website, adding numerous fact sheets, opinions, and filing-related documents. The sales and use tax education coordinator has delegated authority to modify the sales and use website content directly (rather than doing it centrally), which allows for timely updates. Sales and use taxpayers also use the website for various e-services, including filing returns, making tax payments, obtaining a Minnesota Business Tax Identification number needed to transact business with the department, and updating their registration information.

The division tries to target education efforts at specific compliance concerns. For example, the division uses the results of its research and development audits to identify compliance issues that can be addressed through education, primarily written guidance, such as fact sheets. These research and development audits are generally targeted at specific industries, such as veterinarians or security firms, not at general segments of the business population, such as sole proprietorships or other small businesses. According to the education coordinator, audit trends and findings are also informally integrated into taxpayer education class offerings and curriculum because auditors teach the classes and often give examples from their work.

Although the division's focus is clearly on providing written, Internet-based education resources, it also offers a limited set of classroom training courses. Most of the sessions are for one of three courses: basic rules for sales tax, capital equipment exemption rules, and sales tax border issues. This latter course is offered for businesses situated near Minnesota's borders with Wisconsin, North Dakota, and South Dakota.¹¹ The division offers one industry-based course, which covers sales tax rules for advertising. The division increased the number of sessions offered over the past three fiscal years—from 24 sessions and about 450 participants in fiscal year 2003 to 37 sessions and 850 participants in fiscal year 2005. In addition to classroom training, division staff on an ad hoc basis offer special interest classes or presentations to industry groups or professional associations.

Staffing constraints limit the amount of taxpayer training the department can provide. The department has one sales and use tax education coordinator who

The department focuses on providing Internet-based education resources for businesses.

¹¹ The department had offered a border issues class for businesses located near the Minnesota-Iowa border but discontinued it because of low interest.

TAX COMPLIANCE

spends about 30 percent of her time on taxpayer education; most of her time is spent designing and delivering internal training for division auditors. The coordinator recommends for management approval which classes to offer and arranges for instructors, most of whom are sales and use tax auditors. The education coordinator said that there is demand for additional taxpayer training, and she would like to offer additional special issue classes and add more sessions of the basic courses as well. However, since department auditors teach most of the classes, teaching time means reduced audit time—an audit productivity tradeoff that may not be to the department's benefit. According to the division director, the division devotes fewer resources to taxpayer education than it used to, but the director also believes that education-related efforts are now more efficiently delivered.

We also found that:

• More direct outreach is needed to businesses whose proprietors do not speak English.

According to division managers, most businesses have a greater capacity to handle state tax obligations than do individual taxpayers, making businesses better candidates for a self-service model of education than individuals. However, not all businesses may be well served under this model. According to department officials, an important gap in assistance for sales and use taxpayers is that directed at small business owners with limited English proficiency. In its fiscal year 2004-05 and 2006-07 business plans, the division identified as a priority adapting informational materials and training courses to better assist non-English speaking taxpayers. However, as of July 2005, the division had translated four fact sheets to Spanish—a very small proportion of the fact sheets, revenue notices, forms, and instructions it publishes. None of the division training courses to date have been dedicated to non-English speaking taxpayers.

Responding to Taxpayer Inquiries

Sales and use taxpayers who call or write with questions go to one of two work teams in the Corporate and Sales Tax Division.¹² The "call center" is a traditional telephone assistance group similar to that in the Income Tax Division, with calls going through the department's computerized call routing system. Call center staff answer questions about taxpayer accounts, e-filing, and technical tax compliance issues. A second "policy" team staffed by tax auditors handles tax law and compliance questions in addition to other duties related to specific sales tax programs.¹³ Calls to policy staff generally go to their direct lines, not through the call center system. The division has one published e-mail address for all sales and use tax questions. Messages to this address go to one division staff member who then directs the e-mail either to a call center employee or to an auditor in the policy group.

The department has had limited success diverting callers to automated sources of refundstatus information.

Taxpayers who have questions can contact either a traditional call center or a group of policy staff.

¹² After a 2005 reorganization, both of these work teams report to the same supervisor.

¹³ Among other specialty programs, the division's policy services group administers requests for sales tax exemption and claims for sales tax refunds.
SALES AND USE TAX

As shown in Table 3.5, the department received about 30 percent more taxpayer inquiries in fiscal year 2005 than it did in fiscal year 2003. The call center saw an increase in both telephone and e-mail workload, with nearly a 40 percent increase in taxpayer inquiries over the three fiscal years. In contrast, the total number of inquiries directed to policy staff declined by about 13 percent from fiscal year 2003 to fiscal year 2005. The frequency of calls to policy staff declined while the number of incoming e-mails increased.

In recent years, the number of telephone and e-mail inquiries to the call center has increased, while the number directed to policy staff has decreased.

Table 3.5: Taxpayer Inquiries by Telephone andCorrespondence, Fiscal Years 2003-05

	FY 2003	FY 2004	FY 2005	Percentage Change FY 2003-05
Telephone Calls Call Center Policy Staff	72,566 14,489	91038 12,769	103,424 11,897	43% -18
Subtotal	87,055	103,807	115,321	33
Correspondence E-mail to Call Center E-mail to Policy Staff Letters to Policy Staff Subtotal	11,634 2,332ª <u>714</u> 14,680	11,937 2,827 <u>448</u> 15,212	13,994 3,257 <u>195</u> 17,446	20 40 -73 19
Total Contacts	101,735	119,019	132,767	31%

^a The department began counting e-mails directed to policy staff in mid-fiscal year 2003. As a result, the count of e-mails directed to the call center is overstated and the count of e-mail to the policy staff is understated.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue taxpayer assistance data.

For both the call center and policy staff, we found that:

• Many taxpayers do not receive prompt assistance when they call or e-mail with questions, particularly around certain filing deadlines.

The division's data on call center and policy group workloads is collected differently and may not be directly comparable. The data we obtained for the call center are from standard reports generated by the department's computerized call routing system. In contrast, the policy group workload and other indicators are hand-tallied by policy staff and reported monthly to the group manager.

Access to Call Center Assistance

While call center workload has increased significantly over the last three fiscal years, staffing has remained constant at five permanent staff and one lead worker. Throughout the year, the call center receives far more inquiries by phone than e-mail. Workload demand is heaviest in January and February when both the annual filing deadline and a quarterly filing deadline occur. In fiscal year 2005,

for example, the average number of incoming calls per month for January and February (21,100) was more than triple the average for the other ten months (6,100). The division has supplemented its telephone assistance staff with temporary employees during the workload peaks.

Even with temporary staffing, many taxpayers are not able to get through to a representative during periods of heavy demand. We found that:

• On average, about one-third of calls in fiscal year 2005 went unanswered when all call center representatives and hold queues were busy.

During January and February 2005, the division added four temporary workers; but even with that, call center representatives answered only about half of incoming calls, as shown in Figure 3.1. The frequency of callers receiving "system busy" messages also increased around quarterly filing deadlines in July, October, and April. In these months, 39 percent, 21 percent, and 48 percent of call attempts, respectively, could not get through. It is likely that during these periods of high demand, frustrated callers exacerbate overflow problems by repeatedly hanging up and dialing again.





SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue taxpayer assistance telephone system data.

In January and February 2005, callers had about a 50 percent chance of getting through to an assistance representative.

SALES AND USE TAX

An automated means of resetting passwords for the electronic filing system would help reduce demand for call center assistance.

Policy staff receive far fewer inquiries than the call center. Various factors affect the call center staff's ability to handle inquiries at filing deadlines. According to call center staff, roughly 30 percent of the calls received during the January and February filing peak are requests from annual filers to reset passwords for the department's electronic filing system that the taxpayers had forgotten since filing the previous year.¹⁴ The Department of Revenue does not have an automated password reset service, although it is exploring options for establishing one. In addition, with only five permanent staff fielding telephone calls, absence of one staff person can have a big impact on the number of calls that can be answered. One consequence of tight staffing constraints at a call center is that it is more difficult to schedule group training and staff meetings, and call center staff have had little time for training over the past several years.

According to the lead worker, temporary staffing is only a partial solution, because these staff are not able to handle all types of inquiries, only a subset of simpler ones—such as password resets. During January 2005, password reset calls were routed to temporary staff. According to the lead worker, this worked efficiently for a week or so, then callers discovered that they had a higher likelihood of being routed to a representative by selecting the password reset option at the opening menu regardless of their question type. In the end, the temporary staff started receiving questions that they were not able to answer, and the benefit of routing password callers to the temporary staff was reduced.

Access to Technical Tax Assistance

In general, the policy staff receive far fewer inquiries from taxpayers than the call center, and over the last three fiscal years, the number of telephone calls and e-mails directed to policy staff has declined. As with the call center, the technical tax assistance workload for policy staff peaks early in the calendar year, as shown in Figure 3.2. However, throughout the year, demand for assistance does not vary as much as it does for the call center. In assessing how well staff met this demand, we found that:

• It is not possible to determine how accessible policy staff are by telephone, but timeliness of responses to written inquiries slowed during fiscal year 2005.

It is more difficult to assess whether taxpayers who call with questions have a reasonable level of access to policy staff. Policy staff tallies of incoming telephone calls are not comparable to the number of incoming calls to the call center. Because policy calls are not routed through the computerized call routing telephone system, policy staff counts of calls are those actually received. The division cannot count call attempts that receive a busy signal or go to staff voicemail. Incoming calls go directly to 1 of 12 policy staff members or their voicemail, with the number of calls per staff member varying considerably. For example, the staff person who handles requests for sales tax exemption status receives many more calls per month than other staff members.

¹⁴ The division started tracking the reason for taxpayers' calls in March 2005 after the annual filing deadline.



Figure 3.2: Tax Assistance Inquiries to Policy Staff by Month, Fiscal Year 2005

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue taxpayer assistance data.

In spite of declining workloads in fiscal year 2005, it took policy staff longer to respond to written inquiries. Policy staff track how long it takes them to respond to questions submitted by letter and e-mail. On average in fiscal years 2003 and 2004, staff responded to e-mails and letters within four-and-a-half to five days. In fiscal year 2005, average response time increased to nearly 10 days. The group also tracks the backlog of unanswered correspondence at the end of each month. As shown in Figure 3.3, both the volume of unanswered letters and the average number of days to send a reply increased in the January to March timeframe. In February 2005, for example, about 230 inquires remained unanswered, and it took, on average, nearly two weeks for staff to reply to questions. According to the policy unit manager, the division had three staff members who generally answered technical tax e-mail. In January 2005, one of the three left, and response times slowed almost immediately. Longer response times may also be related to increasing complexity of the questions.

On average in fiscal year 2005, it took policy staff 10 days to respond to written inquiries, most of which were submitted by e-mail.



Figure 3.3: Backlogs and Response Time for Correspondence to Policy Staff, Fiscal Year 2005

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue taxpayer assistance data.

Quality of Assistance

We also assessed how well the department manages the quality of assistance provided to sales and use taxpayers who call or write with questions. We found that:

• The Department of Revenue does not have a quality review program for sales and use taxpayer assistance; as a result, it does not know the extent to which taxpayers receive correct answers.

The division does not have a process in place to systematically assess the accuracy and completeness of responses to taxpayer inquiries. Although the call center telephone system allows calls to be monitored and recorded, the division does not take advantage of these features. Policy staff are not on a telephone system with call monitoring capacity, which obviously limits supervisors' ability to evaluate call quality. Supervisors for both groups can access written replies to taxpayers, but they have not systematically done so.

Supervisors said that policy and call center staff are experienced employees, and they are confident that the staff provide correct answers. They pointed to a 2004 survey of businesses in which most respondents reported that they found phone service to be helpful and knowledgeable. However, satisfaction ratings are not a

The department does not test the accuracy of answers provided by sales and use tax staff. substitute for call quality performance data, particularly if survey respondents are not aware that they may have received an incorrect answer. We have no reason to doubt that division staff are knowledgeable, but when the answers staff provide can affect a taxpayer's compliance, supervisors should use performance data to back up their assumptions about the accuracy of assistance provided.

CONCLUSIONS

After a 2002 change to identify and target resources toward projects with high audit potential, sales and use tax audit productivity has improved. However, the department needs to follow through by evaluating whether audit projects are having the intended impact. Even with more focused audit activity, noncompliance continues to be a problem for the use tax. The department is appropriately pursuing alternate strategies to improve compliance—including the Streamlined Sales Tax Project, but its success depends on changes in federal law or voluntary changes by large multi-state businesses.

Many businesses have sufficient in-house expertise to navigate sales and use tax laws, and these taxpayers are probably well-served by the array of written guidance available on the department's sales and use tax website. But for some taxpayers, self-service cannot fully substitute for personal assistance. For instance, the department itself has recognized that it needs to devote additional attention to helping business owners who do not speak English. And overall, the department needs to improve access to telephone assistance and do more to ensure that taxpayers get the right answers when they call or write with questions.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Improve Audit Productivity

RECOMMENDATIONS

To improve audit productivity, the Department of Revenue should:

- Expedite improvements in the data warehouse, including the addition of new data on Minnesota businesses;
- Encourage regional office staff to share successful audit selection techniques and adopt divisionwide the practices of regional offices that have demonstrated productive audit selection techniques;
- Modify or eliminate unproductive audit projects; and
- Track tax compliance rates for its audit projects.

Improving the data warehouse would enable auditors to efficiently examine financial information on businesses rather than collect the information one business at a time, as is currently done. Computerized analysis would allow

Better targeting of resources could improve the impact of sales and use tax compliance efforts.

SALES AND USE TAX

auditors to screen more businesses, increasing the likelihood of finding businesses that may be out of compliance.

Although auditors share information informally, a more structured process of sharing successful audit techniques could improve audit productivity. Specifically, a structured process to identify and adopt the best practices of productive regional offices could improve the performance of less productive offices. The Corporate and Sales Tax Division could help regional offices share best practices through its monthly meetings of regional office supervisors. Beginning in fall 2005, division managers invited lead auditors, who typically play a key role in audit selection, to attend these meetings on a quarterly basis.

The department should monitor the performance of different types of audits to identify those with low productivity. It should determine whether these unproductive projects can be modified, and if so, it should keep monitoring productivity after making necessary changes. If not, the department should reduce the number of audits conducted under these projects or eliminate them altogether. If a project with low productivity serves an educational purpose, such as the self review projects, the department may also, to the extent possible, monitor the project's effect on voluntary compliance to determine whether the project is worth keeping.

Tracking compliance rates would give the division another analytical tool to measure the extent to which it is targeting businesses with low compliance rates. Tracking would also tell the division whether audits of businesses with low compliance are effective.

Evaluate Education Services

RECOMMENDATIONS

To help ensure that education resources are effectively targeted, the Department of Revenue should:

- Review and revise its education course offerings and materials to ensure that they are closely linked to the department's stated compliance priorities for the sales and use tax;
- Initiate needed research to assess how to best deliver education services for specific groups of taxpayers, particularly taxpayers with limited English proficiency; and
- Create a performance plan that lays out specific objectives for taxpayer education and outreach, steps to meet those objectives, and measures for assessing progress.

The department has stated that its sales and use tax compliance priorities include (1) focusing on those taxpayers who are furthest from compliance and (2) reducing the compliance burden for non-English speaking taxpayers. Both of these efforts have taxpayer education components. The department should do

more to delineate sales and use tax compliance concerns that could be addressed through education and to assess education needs and preferences among affected taxpayer groups. Going through the process of explicitly aligning compliance priorities, taxpayer preferences, and education services will also help the department establish meaningful performance goals and measures needed to evaluate education services.

Increase Access to Telephone Assistance

RECOMMENDATIONS

To improve access to call center telephone and e-mail assistance, the Department of Revenue should:

- Pursue automated service options that would help reduce demand;
- Use staffing, scheduling, and call routing options to improve access to telephone assistance; and
- In doing so, consider merging all or part of the call center and technical tax assistance workload.

The department should consider several strategies for managing its telephone assistance workload and improving a caller's chance of obtaining prompt assistance. First, to the extent it can, the division should make more use of automated service options for common transactions, such as obtaining e-file passwords or ordering forms and publications. The division also may be able to make better use of the telephone system menus and routing options to ensure that representatives get to high-priority calls.

Second, loss of a single staff member or an unusual spike in demand can cause significant declines in access to timely assistance. The Department of Revenue has a service goal of answering 70 percent of calls within two minutes. But given that call center performance at certain times of the year is well below that target, we think the division should set interim goals for the percentage of calls that it wants to answer and make staffing plans accordingly. The division has a number of options: hiring additional permanent staff, using temporary staff, shifting workload to the call center (along with a change in staffing), or having technical assistance staff from the policy group providing call center assistance during times of high demand.

Fully merging the call center and policy work teams would be difficult, and division staff were not convinced that it would be a good idea. Call center staff and the auditors in the policy group are in two different job classifications, with the policy staff in higher-graded positions. The manager also said that policy staff often build relationships over time with business taxpayers, and from the taxpayer's point of view, being able to call a specific policy staff member is good taxpayer service.

Assess the Quality of Assistance

RECOMMENDATIONS

To better ensure the quality and accuracy assistance provided by e-mail and telephone, the Department of Revenue should:

- Establish quality-related performance goals and measures,
- Develop and implement a quality review process, and
- Use quality review results to develop and implement staff training plans.

When taxpayers call or write with sales and use tax questions, they expect to get correct answers. We think the department should do more than assume that its staff are providing accurate information by developing and implementing a quality assessment program. For call center staff, the telephone system allows supervisors to tape calls and later review them for accuracy and quality of customer service. Similarly, e-mail correspondence is also relatively easy to review. Assessing technical tax assistance provided by policy staff is more difficult because their telephone system does not support monitoring and recording of calls. Still, these staff provide much of their assistance by e-mail, and this may be the primary means of assessing the quality and accuracy of policy staff responses to taxpayer inquiries.

Collection

SUMMARY

At the end of fiscal year 2005, Minnesota taxpayers owed the state over \$450 million in assessed taxes that were not paid on time. Recent growth in the amount of tax debt has resulted directly from increased audit activity, particularly of income tax returns. The Department of Revenue Collection Division has collected more tax debt each year. However, these increases have not kept pace with the influx of new debt, and 20 percent of debts have been in the collection inventory for more than five years. Cumbersome case routing, inconsistent collection procedures, and easily attained performance standards contributed to inefficient debt collection. The Collection Division needs to make better use of data on debts, debtors, and the results of specific collection activities to identify collection strategies best suited to specific types of debts. The division has recently taken several actions to address problems, but the Department of Revenue may need to make additional investments in information technology to support further improvement.

In general, taxpayers who owe taxes to the state because they filed a return with a balance due or were audited have to pay by a certain deadline. If a taxpayer does not pay on time, the account becomes delinquent, and the case is referred to the Department of Revenue's Collection Division for action. In addition to collecting tax debt, the Collection Division also collects some types of nontax debt on behalf of other state agencies, such as delinquent child support payments or overpayments of state benefits.

Our work focused on collection of tax debt, which accounted for about 90 percent of all debt the division collected in fiscal year 2005. Specifically, this chapter focuses on the following questions:

- How successful is the Department of Revenue in collecting delinquent tax payments?
- Does the Department of Revenue effectively manage its debt collection responsibilities?

To answer these questions, we interviewed Collection Division employees about collection policies and procedures, reviewed the Collection Division manual, and obtained and analyzed division data on tax debts, types of collection actions, and amounts collected. Our work focused on actions taken to collect delinquent tax payments. Due to time constraints, we did not assess the performance of the division's telephone assistance center.

If a taxpayer does not pay a balance due on time, the case is referred to the department's Collection Division for action.

AMOUNT OF TAX DEBT

The state's inventory of delinquent taxes fluctuates because tax debts are being added and removed daily. The Collection Division maintains a case management computer system to hold information about debts and debtors and to manage workflow. To monitor trends, the Collection Division captures snapshot data from this information system on a monthly basis.

For a variety of reasons, data from the collection case management system can be difficult to interpret. Although we discuss other data issues below, it is important to understand that much of the data that the department captures and reports overstates the actual amount of delinquent tax payments owed. For a given tax debt, more than one individual or business may be liable for payment of the tax due.¹ If this is the case, the collection information system includes a record for each debtor and associates the full amount of the debt with each one. Much of the data that the division captures are from this "debtor-based" view, and as a result, they overstate the actual amount of tax debt. The department only started capturing information that is debt-based (without the duplicate counts of the same debt) in October 2003. Throughout this chapter, we will distinguish between data that include duplicate counts of the same debt (debtor-based) and data that do not (debt-based).

Comparing various measures of state tax debt for fiscal years 2000-05, we found that:

• The amount of tax debt owed to the state is large and growing because debt collections have not kept pace with incoming delinquencies.

As shown in Table 4.1, the total amount of tax debt increased, from about \$437 million at the end of fiscal year 2004 to about \$460 million at the end of fiscal year 2005 (the only two fiscal years for which the division was able to provide debt-based data without duplicate counts). This was about a 5 percent increase. Other division data that are debtor-based (which include duplicate counts) also show that the amount of delinquent tax payments has been growing, with an average increase of 8.6 percent per year between fiscal years 2000 and 2005. Some of this increase may be accounted for by inflation, which grew by an average of 2.5 percent per year. Other than inflation, increases in the tax debt inventory occur when the amount of incoming debt exceeds the amount of debt collected or otherwise removed from inventory.²

The total amount of tax debt owed to the state was \$460 million at the end of fiscal year 2005.

¹ For example, if a business owes delinquent sales tax, the department's information system will likely include records for multiple debtors—the business itself plus any officers of the business who are individually liable.

² The division does not have a precise record of the amount of incoming debt in a given time period. Instead, the division imputes the amount of incoming debt by measuring the difference in total tax debt at two points in time and subtracting tax collected during that period. Because of the way some cases are accounted for and because of timing issues, this imputed amount of incoming tax debt may not be accurate.

COLLECTION

Table 4.1: Tax Debt, Fiscal Years 2004-05

	FY 2004	FY 2005	Percentage Change
Amount of Tax Debt	\$436,735,078	\$459,636,780	5.2%
Number of Tax Debts	207,499	213,130	2.7

NOTE: Data are for the end of each fiscal year.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue collection case management data.

Most of the delinquent taxes were associated with the individual income tax and the sales and use tax. As shown in Figure 4.1, individual income tax delinquencies accounted for 63 percent of tax debt at the end of fiscal year 2005; sales and use tax debt accounted for another 19 percent. According to department officials, most of the increase in new tax debts over the past several years was related to increased individual income tax audit activity, including pursuit of nonfilers. As discussed in Chapter 2, the department implemented a significantly larger nonfiler audit program beginning in fiscal year 2002. About 90 percent of nonfiler assessments are not paid within 60 days of assessment; thus, these accounts go to the Collection Division.

Figure 4.1: Tax Debt by Source, June 2005



NOTE: Percentages are based on \$460 million in tax debt owed at the end of fiscal year 2005.

^a This refers to individual income tax withholding that employers did not remit on time.

^b The largest contributors to this category are debts related to the health care provider tax and the estate tax.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue data.

Recent growth in the amount of tax debt owed to the state is largely the result of more income tax audits. When considering the additional revenue to be gained from collecting delinquent payments, it is important to note that, at any given time:

• Not all tax debts can be actively pursued.

The Collection Division does not actively pursue a case if (1) the taxpayer is in bankruptcy proceedings; (2) the taxpayer has entered into an installment payment plan and is making timely payments; or (3) the department has temporarily suspended collection action (for example, because of temporary inability to pay or an ongoing appeal).³ The division also does not pursue tax debts deemed to be "permanently uncollectible." A case is deemed uncollectible if the statute of limitations has expired, the debt was discharged in bankruptcy, or the only liable debtor has died or is indigent.

At the end of fiscal year 2005, an estimated 22 percent of tax debt was not available for active collection. Of this amount, about one-third was debt already being collected through installment payment plans. Another third was debt deemed uncollectible, and about one-quarter could not be pursued because the debtor was in the midst of bankruptcy proceedings. The remaining amount was not available for collection because the division had suspended the collection process for other reasons.⁴ From a practical perspective, the working inventory of tax debt that collectors try to recover was roughly 75 percent of the debt on the books.

As previously discussed, we encountered some problems in obtaining and analyzing department data on tax delinquencies, which raised some concerns. Specifically, we found that:

• The department's commonly reported collection data do not present an accurate picture of trends in state tax debt.

For several reasons, we did not find the division's reports of total state tax debt to be transparent or easily understood. First, for several years, the department did not follow its policy to regularly "charge off," or remove, debts considered permanently uncollectible from the state's inventory of tax debt. Following a \$12 million charge-off in fiscal year 2000, the department did not remove uncollectible debts again until it charged off \$29 million and \$23 million in fiscal years 2004 and 2005, respectively.⁵ Without regular charge-offs, department data overstate the amount of tax debt that the state can reasonably expect to collect. Second, to track the debt inventory, the division is supposed to regularly capture information on the number and amount of debts at specific points in time. It failed to capture these "snapshots" of the tax debt inventory for several months during 2003, so the department does not know what the tax debt inventory was at

The department needs to improve the way it collects and reports information on tax debts.

³ By federal law, creditors must stop debt collection activities during bankruptcy proceedings.

⁴ The division's data on the amount of debt by collection status is debtor-based (with duplicates) and, thus, cannot be directly compared to the total amount of tax debt reported earlier, which was debt-based (without duplicates).

⁵ According to division officials, the process of determining which debts should be deemed uncollectible and charged off consumes resources without a revenue benefit. As the department faced serious budget reductions in fiscal years 2001-03, officials chose not to do the case reviews that are required before a debt can be charged off.

COLLECTION

the close of fiscal year 2003.⁶ Together, these problems make it difficult to track debt over time, which, in turn, impedes the division's ability to understand how it might need to modify collection efforts.

Finally, although division managers track the age of debts (time since becoming delinquent) as an indicator of how quickly debts are being collected, for at least two years the computer program used to calculate case age was not measuring what the managers intended. Instead of tracking elapsed time since a tax payment went to the collection division for action, the data being extracted from the case management system was tracking time in the current case status. For example, if a 10-year-old debt changed from an active status to suspense status within the past year, its case age was calculated as less than one year. As a result, the data division managers had been using and reporting in department performance reports was erroneous, showing that most debts were less than a year old. The division corrected this measurement problem when it was discovered in November 2005. As we discuss in more detail below, the corrected data present a very different picture of how quickly the department resolves collection cases.

THE COLLECTION PROCESS

As discussed earlier, tax debt collections have been increasing but have not kept pace with incoming delinquencies. The Collection Division itself has little control over the number or type of cases it receives, but its goal is to collect debts as quickly as possible, at the lowest cost to the taxpayer, while respecting debtors' rights. Table 4.2 illustrates the primary steps involved in collecting tax debts. To assess how well this process works, we evaluated trends in the amount of debt collected each year, the debt collection process, and how the division uses collection results and other data to target collection efforts.

In assessing trends in the amount collected and how quickly the department collects tax debts, we found that:

• Additional funding helped the department increase the amount of tax debt collected each year, but most debts were not resolved quickly.

As shown in Table 4.3, tax debt collected increased from about \$150 million in fiscal year 2000 to about \$191 million in fiscal year 2005. On average, the amount collected increased by 5 percent per year, but the average masks a significant increase in collections for fiscal year 2004 (a 27 percent increase from fiscal year 2003) followed by a 13 percent decrease from fiscal year 2004 to fiscal year 2005. According to the department, the fiscal year 2004 collection spike was due primarily to several multimillion dollar cases being closed, but also to short-term collection "pushes" within the division.

The Collection Division's goal is to collect debts as quickly as possible, at the lowest cost to the state.

⁶ At our request, the department estimated the amount of tax debt at the close of that fiscal year.

Table 4.2: Steps in the Collection Process, 2005

1.	Declare Tax Payment Delinquent	For tax amounts due that are reported on a tax return, the payment becomes delinquent immediately after the filing due date. For additional assessments resulting from an audit, the payment becomes delinquent 60 days after the date of assessment.
2.	Send First Notice	The department is required to notify the debtor of the delinquency amount, source, and due date. The notice also describes the debtor's rights and payment methods, including the option to pay in installments.
3.	Identify Assets and Send Demand Letter	Collection staff use existing department data, such as that collected from tax returns and federal information returns, to identify assets. These assets may include savings accounts, wages, and investments. Once it has identified available assets, the department sends a demand letter informing the taxpayer that it will levy these assets in 30 days if the debt is not paid.
4.	Levy Known Assets	If the taxpayer does not respond to the demand letter, the department levies the assets. These assets may not be sufficient to pay the debt in full. If the debtor agrees to pay the remainder in full or though installments, other collection action will be suspended.
5.	Search for Other Assets and Levy	If the debt is still not resolved, the case is referred to collection agents who search for assets not previously identified and levy them.
6.	Use Special Enforcement Tools	Agents may also use other special enforcement tools, such as offsetting state payments to the debtor, revoking a state-issued professional license, or seizing property.
7.	Refer Case to Outside Collection Agency	If the department is unable to collect a debt, it is generally referred to an outside collection agency. These agencies may work the collection case for up to two years.
8.	Deem Debt Uncollectible	If a debt has not been successfully collected by the department or an outside collection agency, the case will be reviewed to determine if the debt should be declared uncollectible. The department is supposed to remove uncollectible debt from the state's books.

About 20 to 25 percent of debt is referred to outside collection agencies, but these agencies account for only 2 percent of annual collections.

NOTE: Not all cases proceed through each step. At various points, the debt collection process may be suspended. For example, if a taxpayer agrees to pay the debt in installments, the department stops enforced collection action as long as payments are made on time. Active collection also must stop if the debtor is in bankruptcy proceedings or if the related tax assessment is being appealed.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor.

Cases worked directly by Collection Division staff account for about 94 percent of reported collection revenue. Although roughly 20 to 25 percent of debt is referred to outside collection agencies, debt collected by the outside agencies accounts for about 2 percent of collection revenue each year.⁷ The cases referred to outside collection agencies, however, are often older debts that Collection Division staff have not been able to collect, so it is to be expected that the outside agencies would collect a smaller proportion of debt.

⁷ It is not possible to accurately calculate the percentage of debt successfully collected by outside agencies because department figures for the total amount of debt placed with collection agencies is debtor-based data and includes duplicate counts.

Table 4.3: Tax Debt Collected, Fiscal Years 2000-05

		Amount Collected (in millions)			Average Annual Percentage		
Collection Source	FY 2000	FY 2001	FY 2002	FY 2003	FY 2004	FY 2005	Increase
Collection Division Nondelinguent Installment	а	\$150.7	\$154.4	\$163.5	\$208.6	\$178.1	
Agreements ^b	а	7.5	6.9	7.9	8.2	9.9	
Outside Collection Agency	a	2.2	2.9	2.8	3.7	3.3	
Total	\$149.7	\$160.4	\$164.2	\$174.2	\$220.4	\$191.3	5.0%

NOTE: Amounts are not adjusted for inflation, which grew an average of 2.5 percent per year during the same time period.

^a Complete, detailed data are not available.

^b Some taxpayers do not pay the full amount of tax due at the time they file their tax returns or at the close of an audit, but they voluntarily arrange to pay the balance due in installment payments. These taxpayers' accounts are not considered delinquent, but the Department of Revenue Collection Division administers the payment agreements.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor Analysis of Department of Revenue data.

According to department data, additional staff hired with compliance initiative funding have, as intended, helped increase annual collections. Although the division director reports that division staffing has not returned to its mid-1990s peak, staffing has increased from about 193 in fiscal year 2000 to about 225 at the end of fiscal year 2005, a 17 percent increase. As required by statute, the division tracked the additional revenue associated with compliance initiative funding (essentially the revenue collected by staff hired with additional funds). According to the director, the return is good, but will likely improve with time because it takes some time for new hires to learn their jobs and become fully productive. Moreover, debt collection with additional staffing has not kept pace with the influx of cases associated with increased audit activity.

The division is not meeting its performance goal for the time it takes to collect a debt. For fiscal years 2006-07, the division's goal is to have 75 percent of debts be less than one year in inventory. However, as shown in Figure 4.2, as of November 2005, only 40 percent of debts were less than one year old, and 20 percent were more than five years old. The percentage of debts over five years old is particularly troublesome because the division had, by November 2005, charged off many old debts that were deemed uncollectible.

While the speed with which the division can collect a debt depends on the debtor's cooperation, division collection procedures also influence how quickly a debt can be collected. We discussed with division staff the process of collecting debts, and we found that:

• Some division collection practices are inefficient and allow inconsistent treatment of taxpayers.

However, we could not determine the precise impact of these practices on the amount and pace of debt collection because of limitations in the department's data, which we discuss in more detail later in the chapter.

The department is not meeting its goal to collect most debts within a year.



Figure 4.2: Age of Tax Debts, November 2005

NOTE: Percentages are based on 199,951 debts in the collection inventory at the end of November 2005. Debt age is the total time the debt has been in the Collection Division inventory.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor analysis of Department of Revenue collections case management data.

The division's case-routing procedures are cumbersome. According to the division director, the case management system routes cases through 45 different "functions" that reflect the status of the case (such as bankruptcy) or a particular step in the collection process (such as searching for debtor assets). When a case changes to a different status, it is often routed to a different work group for action. Within a group, a case can be routed among various individuals. In total, the division director estimated that current collection procedures and case routing include over 22,000 possible routing actions. While some movement of cases through these collection steps is automated, many require collection staff to manually initiate action. Cumulatively, these actions slow the debt collection process and can result in lost momentum in dealing with debtors.

In general, division staff handle all collection cases using the same sequence of steps, regardless of the type or size of the debt. For example, the division does not focus its resources on the collection cases that account for the majority of outstanding debt. As shown in Table 4.4, about 8 percent of cases—those with debt amounts greater than \$10,000—account for about 72 percent of all tax debt. About 14 percent of these high-dollar cases are in bankruptcy, suspense, uncollectible, or pay plan status, leaving about 86 percent available for active collection action. But according to the division director, each incoming case is essentially handled the same way.⁸ Individual collection agents may place a higher priority on high-dollar cases in their work inventories, but focusing on high-dollar debts is not an established procedure. According to the director, the dollar amount of the case is not the only factor to be considered when collecting the debt.

The department's collection process has too many steps.

The department does not do enough to tailor collection techniques to the type of debt.

⁸ Debts of active businesses are an exception. These debts follow the same path as others, but skip one asset research step.

Size of Debt	Percentage of Cases	Percentage of Total Debt
\$1 – 500	39.1%	1.9%
\$501 – 1,000	17.5	2.7
\$1001 – 5,000	29.5	14.1
\$5,001 – 10,000	6.3	9.4
\$10,001 – 50,000	6.2	27.2
More than \$50,000	1.4	44.7
Total	100.0%	100.0%

Table 4.4: Distribution of Tax Debts by Size of Debt,June 2005

NOTE: Percentages are calculated from debtor-based data that include duplicate records.

SOURCE: Office of the Legislative Auditor Analysis of Department of Revenue collection data.

The Collection Division's organizational structure and policies allowed debtors in similar situations to be treated differently. For many years, division staff were assigned to one of sixteen units, with each unit essentially functioning independently. Unit supervisors developed their own procedures, and in some cases, modified case routing rules in the collection management information system. In addition, the division did not have a written, detailed procedure manual, which further contributed to varying collection techniques among work groups. According to the division director, these factors have resulted in debtors in similar situations being treated differently.

Aspects of the division's quality assurance and performance evaluation processes lack appropriate balance and standards. According to the division director, performance standards for the amount of debt to be collected annually were easy to meet. In addition, staff performance standards heavily emphasized quantity measures without being adequately balanced by quality measures. Overemphasizing quantitative performance measures can result in inadequate incentive to ensure that cases are handled according to division policy or that debtors are treated fairly. The director has since removed the quantitative performance standards from staff position descriptions while new standards are being developed. In large part because the division did not have standardized collection procedures until very recently, it also does not have a program to review the quality of staff's collection work.

While some inefficiencies in collection procedures are readily apparent, the division lacks key tools—primarily information—that would help it make specific, analytically-driven changes to collection practices. We found that:

• The Collection Division lacks key data and analysis needed to assess productivity, making it difficult for managers to know whether the division uses the right collection actions at the right time.

As discussed earlier, use of a highly standardized collection process has contributed to inefficient debt collection. However, to effectively tailor

The department does not have a quality review program for collection cases. collection actions, the division needs to routinely obtain and analyze additional data on debts, debtors, and the outcomes of different collection strategies.

Often in response to our requests for information, Collection Division managers told us that, as currently structured, they could not obtain important data from their information systems. For example, they could not answer the following questions:

- How much new debt enters the collection process each month, and what is the source of the debts?
- How long does it take to collect an income tax debt, a sales tax debt, and other debt types?
- What proportion of debts, by type of debt, are resolved at each step of the current collection process?
- What types of debts should be "fast-tracked" within the Collection Division or sent directly to outside collection agencies?
- How collectible are debts resulting from key audit programs, such as the Income Tax Division's nonfiler program?
- What is the return on investment for collecting specific types of debt?

To answer these questions, the division needs to augment its management information in a number of areas. For example, the division needs additional descriptive data on the debts in the collection inventory. It also needs the ability to link this descriptive information to the type and timing of collection actions and to the results of these actions. Finally, to more accurately determine the return on investment, the division needs better data on the cost of collecting different types of debts. It was not always clear to us what data could be extracted from existing systems and what data could be produced only if the information system were modified in some way. Nevertheless, for the division to make measurable progress in tailoring collection actions to the characteristics of a debt, it needs to know—not assume—what factors influence efficient collection of delinquent taxes due.

This information is important from a strategic perspective as well. For the department to critically assess its audit efforts, it should consider the extent to which audit assessments go to delinquent status and are ultimately collected. Although the department needs to establish that it pursues all taxpayers who do not pay assessed taxes, the department may want to allocate resources based in part on whether the assessments are likely to be collected. For example, thousands of income tax nonfiler audits result in debts being referred to the Collection Division. Indications are that many of these debts are never collected. The department could decide to limit the resources invested in collecting nonfilers' past taxes due and focus on the extent to which nonfilers improve their compliance in the years following the audit.

The Department of Revenue hired a new director of collections in 2004. The 18 months since has been a transition period, with the director making a number of

Managers do not have the data they need to answer important questions about the efficiency and effectiveness of the collection process.

Improving data on the proportion of audit assessments that ultimately gets collected is important from a strategic perspective.

COLLECTION

changes to the division's organization and practices to address many of the weaknesses discussed thus far. Based on division plans and actions to date, we found that:

• Recent changes should improve consistency and streamline collection processes, but it is too early to assess their actual impact.

Overall, we think these changes target division problems that need to be addressed, but because they were implemented so recently, the actual impact on efficiency and effectiveness is unknown.

In July 2005, the division implemented a new organizational structure that, among other changes, consolidated special enforcement programs into a single group. Under the new structure, staff in the special enforcement group will work concurrently with the lead staff person on the case. Along with this change, the director intends to cross-train staff in the special enforcement group on several specialty programs, granting additional flexibility that had been missing.

To address another deficiency, the division in late 2005 implemented a detailed, online procedures manual. Previously, the division revised and published an online policy manual, the contents of which it controlled centrally.⁹ The procedure manual is more detailed, giving step-by-step procedures for implementing various collection activities, such as placing a lien on a debtor's assets or levying bank accounts. According to the director, the division will use the procedure manual as the basis for more objective, standards-based assessments of case quality. As of December 2005, the division was developing a quality review program, but it was not yet in place.

The division has made some progress streamlining collection processes. For example, as a first collection step, staff routinely did "call campaigns" to contact debtors and assumed that was a productive step. Upon analyzing this process, however, the division determined that call campaigns for individual taxpayers were not particularly effective, because the calls were made during business hours when debtors were frequently not home. As a result, the division changed its procedures for making initial contact with individual debtors. The division is examining other aspects of the collection process with the intent of testing whether a collection practice produces the intended outcome.

CONCLUSIONS

Although the data tracking tax debts over time are flawed, it is clear that the volume of state tax debts is growing. Recent investments in additional collection staff resources have, as intended, boosted annual collections. But because of weaknesses in the collection process, the state probably did not benefit from these investments as much as it could have. Recent Collection Division initiatives to improve its performance hold promise. However, the division will be hamstrung in its efforts to improve efficiency and effectiveness if the department does not invest in the information needed to support analytical decision-making—whether this means reprogramming to extract more useful

The department needs to think more strategically about where to focus collection resources.

Recent Collection Division initiatives to improve its performance hold promise.

⁹ Minnesota Department of Revenue, Collection Manual (St. Paul, 2004).

data from existing systems, modifying the division's case management system, or investing in new applications.

The department also needs to think strategically about where to place collection resources. It is important from an overall compliance perspective for taxpayers to know that, if they are delinquent in paying taxes due, the state will pursue collection of the debt. However, the division also needs to consider the revenue yield from its activities. We think the collection process would be more successful if the division allocated additional resources to high-dollar debts and tailored collection techniques based on the characteristics of the debt.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Improve Data Collection and Analysis

RECOMMENDATIONS

To help manage and maintain data on tax debts, the Department of Revenue should:

- *Regularly identify and remove from the collection system debts deemed permanently uncollectible,*
- Establish a standard set of descriptive measures for tax debts and debtors that portray the actual number and amount of each, and
- Capture data on debts and cases at regular intervals.

Collection Division staff, Department of Revenue senior managers, and legislators need shared access to understandable, accurate data about state tax debts. The division has already started to look at how it gathers and reports information, but it needs to do more to ensure that all stakeholders know, among other things, how many tax debts are on the books, which are available for collection, and how old the debts are. These data should not include duplicate counts of debts, and presentation of the data in and outside of the division should make clear what is and is not being counted. Given the dynamic nature of the debt inventory, the division should have processes in place to capture these data at regular intervals, including back-up contingencies in the case of staff absence or turnover. To better monitor trends, the division should also establish and follow procedures to charge off uncollectible debt at regular intervals.

RECOMMENDATION

To better manage the collection process and improve productivity, the Department of Revenue should allocate the necessary information technology staff resources to help define additional Collection Division data needs and implement related technical solutions.

Division managers told us that to work more strategically, they need better, more detailed information about debts, debtors, and the results of various collection

Improved data and analysis will be key to further progress. actions. Division staff, however, need help to define specific data needs and to determine whether the information can be collected from existing system or if other changes need to be made. As a first step, we think the Department of Revenue should dedicate an information technology specialist or consultant, if funding allows, to the division to help determine what needs to be done. The department will then be in a better position to decide whether it should make additional information technology investments, such as a cost-accounting system.¹⁰

Streamline Collection Processes

RECOMMENDATION

To improve timely collection of debts, the Department of Revenue should simplify its collection procedures and case routing rules.

The Collection Division's case management system is too complex. While the division cannot control the timeliness of debtors' actions, it can influence the administrative time spent collecting debts. With its thousands of potential case hand-offs and 46 "status functions," we agree with division staff that simplified case routing presents a good opportunity for speeding the collection process. Because case routing is linked to the division's organization of work groups, changes to the case management system may mean that the division will also need to make organizational changes and revise its procedure manual.

Use Collection Resources More Strategically

RECOMMENDATIONS

To better target debt collection resources, the Department of Revenue should:

- Focus more intensive collection efforts on the high-dollar cases that account for most of the outstanding debt; and
- Analyze past collection results to identify collection techniques best suited to specific debt or debtor characteristics, and modify collection strategies as appropriate.

In the past year, the division has standardized collection procedures across work groups, and this is important for ensuring equitable treatment of debtors. But having standardized work processes does not mean that the collection process for

¹⁰ Although not a focus of our evaluation, the Collection Division also collects debts for other state agencies. These other agencies are supposed to reimburse the Department of Revenue based on the cost of collecting debts. Without a basic system to track these costs, however, the department is not able to establish fees commensurate with the resources expended to collect other agencies' debts.

all types of debt need to be the same. As the division implements our other recommendations to improve data analysis and revise case routing, the division should look for other opportunities to tailor collection strategies as appropriate for specific types of debts or debtors. For example, division staff believe that they may be investing too many resources trying to collect on certain income tax nonfiler cases. If additional data analysis supports their theory, the department may want to consider outsourcing some or all of these debts or making other changes in its collection approach.

Improve Performance Management

RECOMMENDATIONS

To improve division performance, the Department of Revenue should:

- Design and implement a program to review case quality,
- Establish complementary division and individual performance goals and measures that include both quantity and quality elements, and
- *Revise the employee performance review system to align with division goals.*

Our evaluation was limited in scope, and we did not extensively review the collection process from a debtor's perspective. Still, it was clear that the division needs to balance its quantitative performance goals with measures of case quality in order to ensure that an appropriate level of attention is directed at protecting taxpayers' rights. The division director agrees and has work underway to revise individual employee performance appraisals and to establish division performance measures that balance productivity with quality work.

List of Recommendations

Income Tax (pp. 15-45)

To improve audit productivity and address key contributors to the tax gap, the Department of Revenue should:

- Join the Internal Revenue Service's Fed-State tax return processing program;
- Expedite development of the data system that will handle federal audit reports submitted in electronic format;
- Expedite integration of data on drivers' licenses, motor vehicle registrations, and hunting and fishing licenses into the data warehouse; and
- Continue working to reduce employee turnover among income tax field auditors, including taking measures to make pay more competitive.

To further improve audit productivity, the Legislature should require employers to submit state withholding data in a common electronic format.

To better target audit resources, the Department of Revenue should improve its evaluation of income tax audit projects, including measuring their impact on voluntary compliance.

To bring more focus to education services and to help reduce the income tax gap, the Department of Revenue should create a performance plan that lays out specific objectives for taxpayer education and outreach, steps to meet those objectives, and measures for assessing progress.

To help taxpayers make educated decisions when choosing a tax preparer, the Legislature should amend state law to require the Department of Revenue to publish the names of tax preparers that have received certain civil penalties.

To improve access to telephone assistance during periods of high demand, the Department of Revenue should:

- Establish reasonable service goals for the percentage of calls answered and use staffing, scheduling options, and call routing techniques to meet these goals;
- To the extent possible, modify the automated telephone system to more strongly encourage callers to use the automated refund status options; and
- Alter the call routing protocols as needed to place a high priority on technical tax calls.

To better aid compliance among taxpayers with limited English proficiency, the Department of Revenue should:

- Assess the demand for more education materials and telephone assistance services in other languages; and
- As warranted, translate more written materials and add automated phone menus in other languages.

To better assess the quality of assistance provided, the Department of Revenue should:

- Improve the checklist used for assessing telephone calls and monitor more calls involving technical tax questions, and
- Develop performance goals and measures for responses to taxpayers' written inquiries and evaluate the accuracy of these responses.

Sales and Use Tax (pp. 47-69)

To improve audit productivity, the Department of Revenue should:

- Expedite improvements in the data warehouse, including the addition of new data on Minnesota businesses;
- Encourage regional office staff to share successful audit selection techniques and adopt divisionwide the practices of regional offices that have demonstrated productive audit selection techniques;
- Modify or eliminate unproductive audit projects; and
- Track tax compliance rates for its audit projects.

To help ensure that education resources are effectively targeted, the Department of Revenue should:

- Review and revise its education course offerings and materials to ensure that they are closely linked to the department's stated compliance priorities for the sales and use tax;
- Initiate needed research to assess how to best deliver education services for specific groups of taxpayers, particularly taxpayers with limited English proficiency; and
- Create a performance plan that lays out specific objectives for taxpayer education and outreach, steps to meet those objectives, and measures for assessing progress.

To improve access to call center telephone and e-mail assistance, the Department of Revenue should:

- Pursue automated service options that would help reduce demand;
- Use staffing, scheduling, and call routing options to improve access to telephone assistance; and
- In doing so, consider merging all or part of the call center and technical tax assistance workload.

LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS

To better ensure the quality and accuracy assistance provided by e-mail and telephone, the Department of Revenue should:

- Establish quality-related performance goals and measures,
- Develop and implement a quality review process, and
- Use quality review results to develop and implement staff training plans.

Collection (pp. 71-84)

To help manage and maintain data on tax debts, the Department of Revenue should:

- Regularly identify and remove from the collection system debts deemed permanently uncollectible,
- Establish a standard set of descriptive measures for tax debts and debtors that portray the actual number and amount of each, and
- Capture data on debts and cases at regular intervals.

To better manage the collection process and improve productivity, the Department of Revenue should allocate the necessary information technology staff resources to help define additional Collection Division data needs and implement related technical solutions.

To improve timely collection of debts, the Department of Revenue should simplify its collection procedures and case routing rules.

To better target debt collection resources, the Department of Revenue should:

- Focus more intensive collection efforts on the high-dollar cases that account for most of the outstanding debt; and
- Analyze past collection results to identify collection techniques best suited to specific debt or debtor characteristics, and modify collection strategies as appropriate.

To improve division performance, the Department of Revenue should:

- Design and implement a program to review case quality,
- Establish complementary division and individual performance goals and measures that include both quantity and quality elements, and
- Revise the employee performance review system to align with division goals.

MINNESOTA · REVENUE

February 17, 2006

James R. Nobles Legislative Auditor Office of the Legislative Auditor 658 Cedar Street 140 Centennial Office Building St. Paul, Minnesota 55155-1603

Dear Mr. Nobles:

This is in response to a series of recommendations the Office of the Legislative Auditor (OLA) made in connection with its evaluation of the Department of Revenue tax compliance activities. The evaluation focused on the department's tax compliance activities in three major areas: individual income tax, sales and use taxes, and collection of delinquent taxes.

Overall, the evaluation concurs with the department's estimate of the scope of noncompliance and recognizes the appropriateness of the strategies the agency employs to improve tax compliance. Among these are:

- The gap between the amount of tax that should be paid and the amount of tax that is paid is nearly \$1.1 billion \$604 million in income tax and about \$500 million in sales and use tax. (The department is in the process of updating the tax gap estimates for the income tax and the sales tax.)
- Improving tax compliance requires a comprehensive approach which includes:
 - providing taxpayers with high-quality services and information they need to meet their tax obligations;
 - auditing taxpayers to resolve discrepancies, discourage tax evasion and identify levels and patterns of non-compliance; and
 - enforcing the tax laws for those who do not comply voluntarily.
- Auditing is an effective means for gaining overall compliance with the tax system and for generating additional revenue, raising about \$6 to \$7 for each dollar spent.

The department agrees with the vast majority of recommendations made by the OLA. The recommendations align with efforts already under way in the department to improve the delivery of services to citizens and overall compliance with Minnesota's tax system. More specifically, the department:

- recently completed the first phase of a three-phase process to upgrade our data warehouses for detecting non-compliance among income tax and sales tax filers. The final phase will result in the acquiring of more sophisticated analytical tools to detect non-compliance.
- instituted an annual electronic match of employer filed W-2 forms with the amount reported by individuals on their income tax returns.
- is in the process of developing more effective ways to deliver telephone assistance to taxpayers. Once complete, the department will be able to better serve limited English speaking citizens, more efficiently serve callers during peak periods and provide

higher-quality responses to taxpayer inquiries.

(The department is one of five states to offer income tax instructions in Spanish. It also publishes Working Family Credit instructions in ten languages.)

- is evaluating options for improving our computer systems. This effort will address
 most of the shortcomings of the current systems that the OLA identified in its
 evaluation.
- is in the midst of a workforce planning process that includes strategies for retaining newly-hired employees as well as highly experienced employees. This effort includes strengthening reward and recognition programs, expanding learning and growth opportunities and increasing compensation scales.
- is streamlining systems for the collection of delinquent taxes along the lines recommended in the OLA's evaluation.

The department is willing to share any information about these developments and welcomes further public discussions on the direction and progress of these efforts.

The OLA's evaluation and recommendations provide helpful suggestions for making these efforts more effective and provides a useful tool to guide the department in its effort to improve compliance with the state's tax system.

Sincerely,

Daung a Abloman

Daniel A. Salomone Commissioner

Recent Program Evaluations

Forthcoming Evaluations

Liquor Regulation, March 2006 Public Assistance Eligibility Determination for Non-Citizens, Spring 2006

Agriculture

Pesticide Regulation, March 2006 Animal Feedlot Regulation, January 1999

Criminal Justice

Substance Abuse Treatment, February 2006 Community Supervision of Sex Offenders, January 2005 CriMNet, March 2004 Chronic Offenders, February 2001 District Courts, January 2001

Education, K-12 and Preschool

School District Integration Revenue, November 2005 No Child Left Behind, February/March 2004 Charter School Financial Accountability, June 2003 Teacher Recruitment and Retention: Summary of Major Studies, March 2002 Early Childhood Education Programs, January 2001 School District Finances, February 2000 Minnesota State High School League, June 1998 Remedial Education, January 1998

Education, Postsecondary

Compensation at the University of Minnesota, February 2004 Higher Education Tuition Reciprocity, September 2003 The MnSCU Merger, August 2000

Environment and Natural Resources

State-Funded Trails for Motorized Recreation, January 2003
Water Quality: Permitting and Compliance Monitoring, January 2002
Minnesota Pollution Control Agency Funding, January 2002
Recycling and Waste Reduction, January 2002
State Park Management, January 2000
Counties' Use of Administrative Penalties for Solid and Hazardous Waste Violations, February 1999
Metropolitan Mosquito Control District, January 1999
School Trust Land, March 1998

Financial Institutions, Insurance, and Regulated Industries Energy Conservation Improvement Program, January 2005 Directory of Regulated Occupations in Minnesota, February 1999 Occupational Regulation, February 1999 **Government Operations**

Tax Compliance, March 2006 Professional/Technical Contracting, January 2003 State Employee Health Insurance, February 2002 State Archaeologist, April 2001 State Employee Compensation, February 2000 State Mandates on Local Governments, January 2000 Fire Services: A Best Practices Review, April 1999 State Building Code, January 1999 9-1-1- Dispatching: A Best Practices Review, March 1998 State Building Maintenance, February 1998

<u>Health</u>

Nursing Home Inspections, February 2005 Minnesota Care, January 2003 Insurance for Behavioral Health Care, February 2001

Human Services

Substance Abuse Treatment, February 2006 Child Support Enforcement, February 2006 Child Care Reimbursement Rates, January 2005 Medicaid Home and Community-Based Waiver Services for Persons with Mental Retardation or Related Conditions, February 2004 Controlling Improper Payments in the Medicaid Assistance Program, August 2003 Economic Status of Welfare Recipients, January 2002 Juvenile Out-of-Home Placement, January 1999 Child Protective Services, January 1998

Housing and Local Government

Preserving Housing: A Best Practices Review, April 2003
Managing Local Government Computer Systems: A Best Practices Review, April 2002
Local E-Government: A Best Practices Review, April 2002
Affordable Housing, January 2001
Preventive Maintenance for Local Government Buildings: A Best Practices Review, April 2000

Jobs, Training, and Labor

Workforce Development Services, February 2005 Financing Unemployment Insurance, January 2002

Miscellaneous

Gambling Regulation and Oversight, January 2005 Minnesota State Lottery, February 2004

Transportation

Metropolitan Airports Commission, January 2003 Transit Services, February 1998

Evaluation reports can be obtained free of charge from the Legislative Auditor's Office, Program Evaluation Division, Room 140 Centennial Building, 658 Cedar Street, Saint Paul, Minnesota 55155, 651/296-4708. Full text versions of recent reports are also available at the OLA website: http://www.auditor.leg.state.mn.us